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September 2018

The Honourable Curtis Pitt MP 
Speaker of the Legislative Assembly 
Parliament House 
George Street 
Brisbane Qld 4000

Dear Mr Speaker

I am pleased to present the Annual Report 2017–18 and financial statements for the Office of the 
Information Commissioner.

The report contains an account of our work for the 12 months ending 30 June 2018 and is  
made pursuant to section 184 of the Right to Information Act 2009 (Qld) and section 193  
of the Information Privacy Act 2009 (Qld).

It reflects our performance against our Strategic plan for 2017–21.

I certify that this Annual Report complies with:

•  prescribed requirements of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 (Qld) and the  
Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009; and

•  detailed requirements set out in the Annual report requirements for Queensland  
Government agencies.

A checklist outlining the annual reporting requirements can be found at page 76 of  
this Annual Report.

Yours sincerely

Rachael Rangihaeata 
Information Commissioner
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About this report

Our Annual Report 
provides an overview  
of performance towards 
achieving an informed 
Queensland that  
values and respects 
information rights  
and responsibilities.

We are required to report annually on specific aspects of our activities.  
This Annual Report provides an:

•  account of revenue and how we have used public funds

•  insight into challenges and opportunities that have influenced our actions,  
as well as setting priorities for the year ahead; and

•  assessment of achievement in meeting corporate and operational plans as 
measured against a range of performance indicators.

This Annual Report is an important component of how we monitor our 
performance, which feeds into organisational planning and resource allocation.

Acknowledgement of Traditional Owners  
and Elders
The Office of the Information Commissioner acknowledges Aboriginal and  
Torres Strait Islander peoples as the First Australians and recognises their 
culture, history, diversity and their deep connection to the land, waters and  
seas of Queensland and the Torres Strait. We acknowledge the traditional 
custodians of the lands on which we operate and wish to pay our respects  
to their Elders past and present. 
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Technology and the management 
of personal data continues to be an 
underlying theme of key challenges 
and concerns for agencies and the 
community. We focused on the 
imperative for privacy by design 
through privacy impact assessments, 
with advice, guidance and training  
in 2017–18.

This theme reflected the findings of 
our first audit report tabled in 2017–18, 
Privacy and Mobile Apps. Through 
an audit of three different agencies 
and apps commonly used by the 
community, key recommendations 
were made about privacy by design 
for the adoption of technology, 
including refreshing such technology. 
The principles, findings and 
recommendations of this audit are 
relevant across other technology being 
adopted across government such as 
body worn cameras and  
video surveillance.

We also conducted three audits of 
local governments in 2017–18 which 
focused on right to information and 
information privacy obligations, and 
found that Townsville City Council and 
Ipswich City Council had a number 
of areas of improvement to ensure 
compliance. The Council of the City of 
Gold Coast had implemented 11 of 14 
recommendations from our 2015–16 
Compliance Review, with the remaining 
recommendations being progressed 
due to council transitioning to  
new systems. 

This is a considerable achievement, 
particularly given we started the year 
with a high number of applications 
on hand, ongoing complexity and 
continued to deal with temporary  
staff churn. 

It is clear that the last resort option of 
formal access applications continues 
to be an important part of right to 
information in Queensland, and 
where necessary, people will exercise 
their review rights. Given the external 
review demand has continued to be 
well above that under the repealed 
Freedom of Information Act 1992 
and is increasing over time, securing 
resourcing for this function was critical. 
The 2018–19 budget provides ongoing 
funding for four additional permanent 
external review staff, effectively 
replacing temporary staffing solutions 
that have been approved in most 
financial years for 12 months at a time, 
pending consideration of a permanent 
solution by the Independent Strategic 
Review of the office. The additional 
ongoing funding implements a key 
recommendation of the Independent 
Strategic Review, and staff have been 
permanently appointed to these roles.

Privacy was frequently in the headlines 
during 2017–18 and a topic of 
conversation due to developments at 
the international, national and local 
level. General privacy awareness 
has never been higher, however the 
changing regulatory environment 
is challenging for stakeholders and 
misconceptions continue to arise. 

Message from the  
Information Commissioner

The Office of the 
Information Commissioner 
has realised several 
important achievements 
and milestones in 2017–18. 

The year has also been a period of 
transition and ensuring we are well 
placed for future OIC and stakeholder 
needs. During 2017–18 privacy and 
information access, transparency, 
open government and accountability 
more broadly have been the subject  
of greater public debate and 
increasing community expectations.

Strong demand for our services has 
continued in 2017–18, including 
a record 624 external review 
applications received. The upward 
trend for external review services, 
which comprises the largest 
proportion of our resources,  
is consistent with other Australian  
and New Zealand jurisdictions, and 
may be due to a greater awareness 
of the right to access. In 2017–18 we 
saw substantial growth in the number 
and percentage of external review 
applications received in relation to 
the local government and Queensland 
Government department sectors.

Despite the significant increase  
in demand, we finalised a record  
595 external review applications 
in 2017–18, up from 413 last year. 
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Transparency, accountability and 
open government were also live 
topics for public debate and media 
commentary in 2017–18. For Right to 
Information Day, our 2017 Solomon 
Lecture by widely respected journalist 
Kerry O’Brien, focused on the lessons 
learnt since the Fitzgerald Inquiry. 
The lecture and associated panel 
discussion engaged a strong live 
and streamed audience, including 
discussion about the media’s role  
in keeping the community informed. 
The 2018 Privacy Awareness Week 
launch featured the Attorney-General 
and Minister for Justice, Professor 
David Lacey and Mr Paul McCarney  
on the theme, Value personal data – 
it’s worth protecting. 

The Independent Strategic Review 
of our office was tabled in late 
2016–17 and we started to implement 
recommendations at that time. 
We focused on implementation of 
the recommendations throughout 
2017–18. In addition to the key 
recommendation about external 
review resources, we have also 
conducted a training needs analysis 
and will be implementing new 
training, communications and 
engagement, and career growth 
strategies, developed in consultation 
with our staff, in 2018–19. Our 
strategies will help us to ensure 
we are able to deliver our statutory 
functions effectively, are responsive 
to stakeholder needs and prioritise 
our resources to maximise impact. 

Our support and awareness functions 
are also critical in supporting the 
appropriate use of the push model, 
with formal access applications as a 
last resort, and good practices which 
help reduce demand for external 
review services.

We relocated premises this year and 
were able to realise efficiencies and 
greater functionality as a result.  
We are building upon this with 
a flexible IT fleet, and further 
enhancements are expected to occur 
as a result of completion of the review 
of IT service provision in 2018–19. 
These changes and investments will 
ensure we are better able to meet 
current and future requirements to 
perform our key statutory functions 
and stakeholder expectations. 

Our inaugural Right to Information 
Commissioners, Ms Jenny Mead and 
Ms Clare Smith retired in 2017–18. 
Ms Smith and Ms Mead, who job-
shared the role since 2010, led the 
external review function through a 
period of significant change under 
new legislation and established 
new internal processes and ongoing 
continuous improvement that placed 
us well to deal with future challenges. 
On behalf of OIC, I thank Ms Mead 
and Ms Smith for their service and 
significant contribution to OIC’s 
achievements since 2010. Ms Louisa 
Lynch was Acting RTI Commissioner 
from August 2017, and was appointed 
as RTI Commissioner from 6 July 2018 
following a recruitment and selection 
process. 

I would like to congratulate and 
thank our exceptional OIC team on 
a year of high quality service to the 
community and government sector. 
I would also like to pay particular 
tribute to my executive colleagues. 
Our work continues to be increasingly 
important on the individual through 
to the international level. It is a 
challenging and interesting time for 
privacy and information access rights 
and our statutory oversight, support 
and awareness functions. The nature  
of our role can be complex and 
requires resilience, skill and 
expertise. Our team is committed 
to supporting open, accountable 
and transparent government and 
appropriate privacy safeguards 
through our functions. This annual 
report sets out the important work 
we have done in 2017–18, our 
performance against our service 
standards and shows that we play  
a critical oversight and support  
role in this challenging area.

Rachael Rangihaeata 
Information Commissioner
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Our external review service

Service standard
2017–18 

target
Achievement Result

Provide independent, timely and fair review of decisions made under the  
Right to Information Act and Information Privacy Act

Percentage of applicants satisfied with the conduct of the review 70% 66% 

Percentage of agencies satisfied with the conduct of external reviews  
service provided

75% 94% 

Median days to finalise a review 90 days 102 days 

Percentage of open reviews at the end of reporting period that are more than 
12 months old

0% 0% 

Number of reviews finalised 300  595

Percentage of reviews resolved informally compared to reviews resolved by 
written determination

75% 87% 

Percentage of review applications finalised to received 100% 95% 

We measure the efficiency 
and effectiveness of 
our services against key 
performance indicators 
for each service. 

Our performance report card 

Figure 1.2017–18 Performance report card 

We seek to meet the targets for the service standards within available resources. 

These service targets enable the Queensland community and the Parliament  
to assess whether or not we have delivered services to acceptable levels  
and measure our efficiency and effectiveness. Service targets are part of  
the Queensland Government Performance Management Framework.

3



Our privacy advice and complaint mediation service

Service standard
2017–18 

target
Achievement Result

Provide an independent, timely and fair privacy complaint mediation service

Percentage of privacy complainants satisfied with the mediation service 70%
Insufficient 
meaningful 

data
—

Percentage of agencies satisfied with the privacy complaint mediation 
service provided

75% 88% 

Percentage of privacy complaints finalised to received 100% 100%

Mean average days to make a decision to accept a privacy complaint 14 days 67 days

Mean average days to finalise an accepted privacy complaint 90 days 157 days

Assist agencies to achieve compliance with the privacy principles

Number of advices, consultations and submissions n/a 299 —

Participation in meetings, regional visits and information sessions n/a 175 —

Number of reviews conducted 1 1

Our assistance and monitoring service

Service standard
2017–18 

target
Achievement Result

Improve agencies’ practices in right to information and information privacy 

Percentage of agencies satisfied with the information and assistance provided 
by the Office

80% 100%

Percentage of agencies satisfied with the quality of information provided 75% 100%

Number of training activities provided 30 33

Number of people trained* 500 13 909

Percentage of course participants satisfied with sessions 75% 98%

Number of monitoring and compliance activities 10 3

Promote greater awareness of right to information and information privacy in the community and within government

Number of awareness activities conducted 190 307

Number of enquiry (written and oral) responses 2 500 5 057

Number of website visits 80 000 204 962 

* The number of training participants is an approximation, as estimates of attendance numbers are applied for some training activities.

Off ice of the Information Commissioner 2017–18 Annual Report 4



624 
External review  

applications: record high 

Biometrics

The year at a glance

Demand for our services

Privacy in focus

Key awareness raising events

5 057 
Enquiry service responses: 

continuing high demand

13 909 
Training participants:  

record high

Privacy Impact 
Assessments

204 962 
website visits:  

increase of 18%

Technology

Review 
Mobile Apps  
and Privacy

Tabled 4 audit reports to Parliament

Compliance Audit:
Townsville City Council

Compliance Audit: 
Ipswich City Council

Follow-up Audit: 
The Council of the 
City of Gold Coast

Privacy 
Awareness Week

Right to  
Information Day

Respected journalist  
Kerry O’Brien delivered the 

Solomon Lecture 

ON TRACK
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About us

We are an independent 
statutory body for the 
Financial Accountability 
Act 2009 (Qld) and the 
Statutory Bodies Financial 
Arrangements Act 1982 (Qld). 

Initially established under the repealed Freedom of Information Act 1992 (Qld) 
(FOI Act), we continued under the Right to Information Act 2009 (Qld) (RTI Act). 

Our statutory functions under both the RTI Act and the Information Privacy 
Act 2009 (Qld) (IP Act) support Queensland government agencies, including 
departments, statutory authorities, local governments and public universities,  
to be more open, accountable and transparent.

Under the RTI and IP Acts, government-held information must be released,  
as a matter of course, unless on balance, disclosure is contrary to the  
public interest. Access applications made under the legislation should  
be a last resort.

The IP Act also recognises the importance of protecting the personal information 
of individuals. It creates a right for individuals to access and amend their own 
personal information and provides rules for how agencies must handle  
personal information.

Information privacy requirements foster responsible and fair management 
of personal information and assist government to meet changing community 
expectations about privacy.

We promote the objectives of the RTI and IP Acts including the understanding 
that greater access to information leads to an informed community, able to 
participate in and scrutinise government. RTI and information privacy obligations 
promote a more effective, efficient, ethical, open, transparent  
and accountable public service.

Under the RTI and IP Acts, the Information Commissioner is a statutory office 
holder appointed by the Governor-in-Council, and is not subject to ministerial 
direction in the exercise of the functions under the Acts.

The independent authority of the Information Commissioner allows the 
community to have confidence that the Information Commissioner will  
carry out the role independently, fairly, and impartially.

Our stakeholders
Our stakeholders include the Legal Affairs and Community Safety Committee of 
the Queensland Parliament, the community and agencies such as Queensland 
Government departments and Ministers, local governments, Hospital and Health 
Services, statutory authorities, Government-Owned Corporations,  
public universities and other public authorities.

Office of the Information Commissioner 2017–18 Annual Report 6



Our values

Respectful
We listen carefully, 

providing assistance  
to build understanding, 

find solutions and enable 
meaningful participation. 

Our processes are fair 
and transparent. We are 

inclusive in our approach.

Collaborative
We work together as one 
Office of the Information 

Commissioner (OIC)  
team to maximise  

our expertise to achieve 
better outcomes.

Focused
We strive for excellence in 
service delivery and work 
to produce high quality 
and timely outcomes. 
We prioritise activities 
that have the greatest 
impact on improving 
right to information 

and information privacy 
practices and awareness.

Innovative
We stay informed  

about our changing 
environment so we can 

effectively foster an 
environment of continuous 
improvement incorporating 

creative solutions.
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Greater 
government 
openness, 

transparency and 
accountability

Easier and 
quicker access 
to government-

held information 
including data

Improved 
public trust and 

confidence in 
government

Strong 
information 
rights and 

responsibilities 
practice

Increased 
awareness of 
information 

access rights and 
protection  
of personal 
information

Improved public 
sector service 

delivery

Decisions and 
informal resolution

Training courses and 
information sessions

Reports to Parliament 
and submissions

Awareness raising 
activities and events

Information resources 
and Enquiry Service 

advice and assistance

Review agency 
decisions

Monitor and report  
on performance

Conduct privacy 
mediation

Provide training and 
assistance

Develop our people

Our business model

Figure 2. Our business model

Activities

Outputs

Inputs

Outcomes

Stakeholder 
Engagement

GovernanceSkills and 
expertise

Funding
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We have set strategies 
with key performance 
indicators to achieve our 
expected objectives for 
our Service Areas over  
the five year period.

Strategic planning
Strategic planning involves consulting with staff. The Strategic plan provides 
direction and focus to our activities as a whole, and to teams and individuals as 
they proceed with specific projects and day-to-day work to address key challenges 
and priorities.

Each Executive management team member is responsible for addressing 
specific strategies to guide activity, monitor progress against targets and report 
achievement against service objectives. The Executive management team meets 
regularly to discuss budget, performance, office culture/climate and other general 
business. Where necessary, the team makes changes to meet performance targets. 

Monthly ‘all staff’ meetings and regular team meetings provide an opportunity 
to discuss operational issues. These gatherings also allow us to consult with 
staff and provide information on operational planning, risk management, and 
workplace health and safety. 

We seek feedback regularly from parties involved in external reviews, privacy 
complaints, and training through a range of mechanisms, including surveys, email, 
website and an external practitioner network. 

We are determined to ensure that business processes, policies and guidelines are 
effective, able to withstand scrutiny and serve our staff, the community, agencies 
and stakeholders well.

Our Strategic plan is available online at www.oic.qld.gov.au 

Improving our services
Evaluation
Evaluation drives our learning and helps us to understand the factors that 
worked or did not work within a particular activity, the results achieved and the 
wider applicability of those lessons. The process of evaluation itself creates an 
opportunity to share insights and knowledge. Evaluation is a learning tool that 
empowers all stakeholders by expanding their knowledge base and enhancing 
their skills resulting in improved services. 

Stakeholder engagement
Engaging effectively with stakeholders and involving them, where possible, in 
development, design and delivery allows us to tap into stakeholders’ expertise, 
experience and knowledge. It can also help in identifying new opportunities as 
well as risks. Well-managed interactions provide us with useful information to 
shape our future initiatives and services.

Feedback
Actionable feedback, both positive and negative, is very important and helps 
us make decisions about our service delivery. Feedback also allows us to better 
understand how clients rate and use our services to determine where we excel  
or fall short. Satisfaction surveys are one method we use to obtain feedback.  
The gathered information supports service improvements, better client 
experiences and strengthens our brand and reputation.

Our strategy 
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Our challenges, risks and priorities

In 2018–19 we will focus 
on implementing our 
training, communications 
and engagement, and 
career growth strategies 
developed under 
recommendations of the 
Independent Strategic 
Review of the OIC. 

These strategies are critical to supporting us to effectively perform our statutory 
functions and address stakeholder and staff needs. 

The strategies will assist us to ensure effective support and engagement  
with agencies and the community across Queensland. During 2018–19 we will 
review training products and focus on engagement with regional agencies. 
A key priority and shift in focus to reflect greater maturity in practices and 
expectations, is that we will increasingly support agencies to take the lead in 
awareness and training activities, through partnering with agencies and/or 
providing tools and resources. 

Successful awareness, engagement and agency support also helps ensure 
an effective push model of RTI, with less reliance on the ‘last resort’ of formal 
applications, and improved agency practices. This in turn may help reduce future 
demand for external review services. We will also continue to monitor any external 
review trends that can be addressed through engagement with agencies, training 
or assistance, or audit to reduce pressure on limited resources.

During 2018–19 we will conduct the fourth self-assessed electronic audit across 
all Queensland government agency sectors and report on aggregated results 
and findings to Parliament. This report will help inform our priorities for audit, 
training, assistance, engagement and awareness activities over the following 
three years. It will also provide a good health check for agency leaders.

A number of key privacy developments are expected to be progressed through 
2018–19, including the reference to the Law Reform Commission on surveillance. 
We will need to focus our limited resources to maximise impact and maintain 
currency, technical expertise and relevance. The implementation of the 
Queensland Government’s recommendations to make a number of amendments 
and explore issues arising from the broader review of the RTI and IP Acts will 
also be a key priority when the next stage of the review is progressed. Our role 
will involve both commenting on proposed amendments and ensuring external 
stakeholders and we are well placed to implement changes to legislation 
through updates to guidance, training, awareness, our case management  
system and internal procedures.

We will maintain a focus on privacy and access by design in the adoption  
and refresh of technology, consistent with the prevalence of the theme across  
all areas of our work and findings of camera surveillance and mobile apps 
privacy audits. 

A key priority and challenge in 2018–19 will be to plan and commence 
celebrations to mark the 10th anniversary of the RTI and IP Acts on 1 July 2019. 
We will partner with key agencies and non-government organisations to focus 
on specific issues relevant to privacy and right to information over the past ten 
years, along with future opportunities and challenges. 

Our ICT infrastructure and services are critical to our business and must continue 
to meet our current and future needs. In 2018–19 we will complete a review of 
our IT services and rollout of a flexible fleet of IT hardware for staff to support 
better use of our new premises, contemporary and flexible work practices. 

Office of the Information Commissioner 2017–18 Annual Report 10



Our services
External review

Key activities:
• resolve applications using flexible approaches

•  ensure quality resolution and decision making services by maintaining 
comprehensive case and knowledge management systems; and

• determine external review applications through formal written decisions. 

Objective one –  
Provide independent, 
timely and fair reviews 
of decisions made under 
the Right to Information 
Act 2009 and Information 
Privacy Act 2009

Figure 3. External review service standards

*  11 of the 35 surveys returned in total for 2017–18, from the 595 matters closed, expressed dissatisfaction. See discussion in Feedback section, 
page 20.

** More applications were finalised than received during the reporting period due to carry-over from the previous period.

Service standard
2013–18 

target

Achievement

2013–14 2014–15 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18

Percentage of applicants satisfied with the conduct 
of the review

70% 72% 74% 72% 73% 66%*

Percentage of agencies satisfied with the conduct of 
external reviews service provided

75% 94% 90% 91% 92% 94%

Median days to finalise a review 90 days 106 days 87 days 98 days 86 days 102 days

Percentage of open reviews at the end of reporting 
period that are more than 12 months old

0% 0% 0% 6% 0% 0%

Number of reviews finalised 300 500 418 407 413 595

Percentage of reviews resolved informally compared 
to reviews resolved by written determination

75% 89% 91% 88% 88% 87%

Percentage of review applications finalised to received 100% 110%** 98% 112%** 80% 95% INFORMAL RESO
LU

TI
O

N

We have responsibility for reviewing decisions of agencies and Ministers on access to and amendment of information 
under the RTI Act and IP Act. This includes identifying whether agencies and Ministers have taken all reasonable steps 
to locate relevant documents, as well as deciding applications for extensions of time to process access applications 
and whether the legislation applies to particular entities. We also make decisions about whether a non-profit 
organisation has financial hardship status.

The primary focus of external review is to conduct independent, timely and fair reviews of decisions in relation to access 
to information. We attempt to resolve external review applications informally wherever possible. If, however, we make 
an external review decision it replaces the agency’s or Minister’s decision by affirming, varying or setting aside the 
original decision. 
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This year we undertook external reviews while being impacted by continued limited 
resourcing, temporary funding and a substantial increase in demand for the external 
review service. We received a record high 624 applications, up from 515 in 2016–17 
(21%). The largest growth by sector occurred in relation to the local government 
(131) and Queensland Government department (377) sectors, with a reduction in 
applications about public Hospital and Health Services (56) (See Figure 5).

INFORMAL RESO
LU

TI
O

N

Further 
preliminary 
reviews and 
consultation 

Consult third 
parties

Assess issues 
and information

Provide 
preliminary 
views (oral/

written)

FORMAL 
WRITTEN 
DECISION

EXTERNAL REVIEW 
APPLICATION 

RECEIVED

PROCEDURAL 
FAIRNESS

Figure 4. Our external review process

Office of the Information Commissioner 2017–18 Annual Report 12



1  In 2017–18 we received a total of 46 applications (7%) because of a deemed refusal of access or amendment decision. In 2016–17 we received a total of  
60 applications (12%) because of a deemed refusal of access or amendment decision.

Figure 5. Number of applications received by agency profile

See Appendix 4.

The increased demand was distributed across the different types of applicants, with individuals (476), companies (62) 
and journalists (44) continuing to be the predominant categories (see Figure 6 below). Despite the higher number of 
applications received overall in 2017–18, compared to the previous year, fewer were due to agencies exceeding their 
statutory timeframes to make a decision (see Appendix 3).1

Figure 6. Profile of applicants making external review applications

#  The agencies, individuals and total applications received for 2015–16 were incorrectly reported in part of the 2016–17 OIC Annual Report as a 
result of a typographical error. The 2015–16 figures have been updated in this report to accurately reflect the profile of applicants making external 
review applications and the total number of external review applications received for that financial year. 

See also Appendix 5.
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An objecting third 
party agreed to allow 
inspection access to  
an acoustic report
An apartment resident with 
concerns about noise from a 
licensed venue, applied to access 
an acoustic report submitted 
by that venue to the regulating 
authority. When originally 
consulted by the RTI decision 
maker, the venue objected to 
disclosure of the entire report on 
the grounds that it would prejudice 
its commercial and business 
affairs. The access applicant then 
applied to us for external review. 

In examining the acoustic report, 
we observed that it was almost  
10 years old and much of its 
content was generic, or not 
particularly sensitive or secret.  
We also identified that it had been 
prepared by a consultancy firm, 
retained by the objecting third 
party, and therefore, copyright in 
the report did not vest in the State. 
We conveyed a written preliminary 
view to the licensed venue that, 
on balance, the public interest 
favoured disclosure of the report, 
but that due to the copyright issue, 
access could only be granted by 
way of inspection. The third party 
accepted this proposal and the 
access applicant and agency also 
agreed to resolve the matter on 
this basis. 

This case demonstrates that, with 
the passage of time, an objecting 
third party may reconsider their 
position on disclosure, and also 
shows the benefit in proposing 
inspection access.

CASE STUDY

Informal resolution
We encourage the parties of an 
external review application to resolve 
the review informally consistent with 
the legislation. Timely resolution is an 
important consideration for applicants 
and agencies. More broadly, timely 
access to information promotes 
transparency and accountability of 
government. Therefore our systems 
focus on and maximise opportunities 
for early and informal resolution. 

We achieve this by:

•  obtaining additional documents 
and any other relevant background 
information

•  seeking to narrow the scope of the 
request; and

•  attempting to negotiate settlement 
of the review.

In the early stages we identify  
whether an external review is 
considered simple, mid-level or 
complex. This assessment occurs 
as a consequence of the review 
progressing through the Early 
Assessment and Resolution (EAR) 
stage where the issues, documents, 
and parties are identified. The EAR 
team’s focus is on resolving the 
review quickly. If the EAR team is 
unable to resolve the review it is 
allocated to a review officer for  
further consideration. 

Allocation decisions are made by  
the External Review Leadership Team 
(Right to Information Commissioner 
and the Assistant Information 
Commissioners) and take into account 
the complexity of the issues, the 
volume and type of information in 
issue, the nature of the parties and 
their willingness to negotiate as well 
as the workload and experience of 
external review staff. 

Reviews that are initially considered 
simple may not be finalised easily  
or within a short period of time.  
Some key factors that influence 
timeliness include:

•  dealing with large volumes  
of documents

•  dealing with challenging 
behaviour of applicants

•  sufficiency of search issues at the 
agency level

•  agencies seeking multiple/lengthy 
extensions of time; and

•  parties uninterested in negotiating 
a settlement and requiring a 
formal written decision. 

The Information Commissioner may 
suspend an external review at any 
time to allow the participants to 
negotiate a settlement. If an external 
review is resolved informally the 
agency and applicant are advised  
that the review is complete.

The following three case summaries 
illustrate informal resolution in  
action during 2017–18.
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OIC formed the view that the 
administration of justice factors 
favoured disclosure of third party 
details to an applicant seeking to 
recover stolen property
The applicant sought the names and contact details of third 
parties who were in possession of valuable jewellery items 
which had been stolen from the applicant’s residence some 
years prior. The third parties had legitimately purchased 
the items from a second hand shop where the offender 
had pawned the items—the offender had since been 
convicted of burglary in relation to the theft. The agency 
had unsuccessfully attempted to obtain the agreement of 
the third parties to return the stolen items, which led the 
applicant to pursue the matter under the RTI Act. 

The agency refused access to the third parties’ details on 
the basis that it would, on balance, be contrary to the public 
interest, relying on the weight of personal information 
and privacy non-disclosure factors. On external review, we 
formed the view that the administration of justice disclosure 
factors outweighed the personal information and privacy 
factors and conveyed this view to the agency and third 
parties. In summary, we applied the principles in Willsford 
and Brisbane City Council (1996) 3 QAR 368 in forming the 
view that disclosing the third parties’ details would assist 
the applicant to pursue a legal remedy to recover the  
stolen jewellery. 

The agency accepted our preliminary view and one third 
party agreed to hand over the jewellery at a local police 
station. The other third party agreed that their solicitors’ 
details be provided to the applicant, for service of any legal 
proceedings. Once this agreement had been reached, we 
wrote to the applicant seeking their agreement to resolve 
the matter, noting that the weight of the administration 
of justice factors had significantly lessened, due to the 
arrangements reached with the third parties. While initially 
reluctant to close the matter before both items were 
returned, the applicant accepted our role was finalised  
and did not pursue the review. 

This case demonstrates a unique set of circumstances 
in which the administration of justice factors favoured 
disclosure of the personal information of other individuals. 

OIC met with operational unit  
and records manager to resolve 
sufficiency of search concerns
The applicant applied for access to information  
about the resumption of land and the terms on which 
a particular bridge was constructed approximately  
30 years ago. The applicant sought external review of 
the sufficiency of the agency’s searches. The agency 
undertook further searches and located additional 
information; however, it was unclear to us whether the 
additional information referred to the land and bridge 
in question—or other resumed land and other bridges 
constructed around the same time. 

We met with agency representatives, including the 
relevant operational unit manager and the records 
manager. The former provided specific explanations 
about which lot references (which changed over time) 
related to the resumed land, and which documents 
referred to the bridge in question. The records 
manager provided general information about the 
agency’s record keeping practices approximately  
30 years ago. 

This information satisfied us that all reasonable 
searches had been conducted. It also confirmed that 
much of the additional information did not relate to 
the resumed land or bridge in issue, and was therefore 
outside the scope of the application. So that the 
applicant could be satisfied that this was the case, the 
agency agreed for the applicant to inspect documents 
that were considered outside scope. The applicant 
agreed to finalise the review on this basis.

This case demonstrates the merit in speaking  
directly to an agency’s records manager and relevant 
operational area when considering requests for 
historical documents, and in considering sufficiency 
of search issues. The case also demonstrates that 
inspection of documents, where appropriate, can  
help satisfy an applicant that documents are not 
relevant to the terms of their application. 

CASE STUDY CASE STUDY
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Preliminary views
A preliminary view (PV) focuses on 
the application of the law. It assists 
in resolving a matter and provide 
any party adversely affected an 
opportunity to put forward their views. 

A preliminary view is not a final 
decision. If a party provides additional 
information supporting their case, this 
will be considered and may influence 
the final outcome. Typically, we allow 
the parties two weeks to respond 
to the PV. The parties’ responses 
determine whether we proceed to a 
formal written decision.

Figure 7. Percentage of reviews 
resolved informally compared 
to reviews resolved by written 
determination – target 75%

This represents an increase 
in the number of written 
decisions from previous  
years and is reflective of  
the 44 percent increase in 
external review applications 
we finalised in 2017–18. 

The proportion of reviews resolved 
informally compared to reviews 
resolved by written decision only 
decreased by 1 percent from  
2016–17 to 2017–18 (see figure 7).

Figure 8. Number of written decisions 
made

Eleven appeals were lodged in 
2017–18 with four matters comprising 
appeals from a single applicant.  
This compares to 21 in the previous 
year. The main reason for this drop was 
the majority of appeals in the 2016–17 
year were on related matters.  
Ten concerned inter-related matters 
and these were heard together in 
November 2017. Another three appeals 
were lodged by the same applicant in 
2016–17, with two appeals from this 
applicant ongoing from 2015–16. 

Eighteen appeals from OIC decisions 
were finalised in QCAT in 2017–18:

•  seven appeals were withdrawn 
comprising five appeals of a single 
applicant and two other matters 

•  one appeal was upheld and on 
further appeal by the access 
applicant to the Court of Appeal, 
two orders of QCAT were upheld 
and the balance of QCAT orders 
were dismissed; and

•  ten related appeals were upheld 
and not remitted back to OIC for 
decision as it was held that the 
information in issue was not to  
be disclosed.

Fifteen appeals are outstanding 
before QCAT as follows:

•  five matters await QCAT decision 
with the oldest matter having been 
heard on 22 June 2017; and

•  ten matters are at various 
procedural stages of the  
appeal process.

Appeals
An external review participant is 
able to appeal to Queensland Civil 
and Administrative Tribunal (QCAT) 
against a decision of the Information 
Commissioner on a question of law. 

We strive to provide independent 
timely and fair review of decisions 
made about access to and 
amendment of information and 
cannot predict what proportion of 
our decisions or what matters are 
likely to be appealed. Each decision 
turns on its own particular facts 
and circumstances however, with 
an overall increase in the number 
of reviews being undertaken a 
corresponding increase in appeals 
is possible. Applicants often report 
to us that they may appeal to QCAT 
as a matter of principle because 
they disagree with the content of the 
RTI or IP Acts as opposed to how we 
applied the legislation to the facts 
and circumstances of their matter. 
Exercise of the full suite of review 
rights open to an applicant is a matter 
for each applicant to consider. 

2017–18

2016–17

2015–16

2014–15

2013–14

2017–18

2016–17

2015–16

2014–15

2013–14

55

78

37

48 50

Written decisions
In a written decision the Information 
Commissioner or delegate affirms, varies 
or sets aside the agency decision under 
review and makes a substituting decision.

The Information Commissioner must 
publish written decisions. These decisions, 
and reasons for decision, are available  
on our website. We made 78 formal  
written decisions in the reporting period.  
This represents an increase in the  
number of written decisions from  
previous years and is reflective of the 
44 percent increase in external review 
applications we finalised in 2017–18. 

89% 91% 88% 88% 87%

target 75%

Office of the Information Commissioner 2017–18 Annual Report 16



Figure 9. Median days to finalise a 
review – target 90 days

Judicial review of decisions
The Queensland Supreme Court under 
the Judicial Review Act 1991 may 
judicially review written decisions  
of the Information Commissioner.  
No applications for a statutory  
order of review were made to the 
Supreme Court during 2017–18.

Timely external  
review process
There is a natural tension between the 
expectation of a quick outcome and 
the necessity to deal with the external 
review in a fair and impartial manner 
by giving participants the opportunity 
to make submissions and respond to 
our preliminary views where they may 
be affected.

We did not meet the target of 90 
median days to finalise a review.  
In 2017–18 the median days to finalise 
a review was 102 days. Median days 
is the middle figure in a sequence 
of numbers. Typically when days 
taken to close an external review are 
considered, there are a large volume 
at either end of the list, that is, matters 
either close relatively quickly or take 
considerably longer. A change in 
either end can affect the median days 
result. In 2017–18 there were a lot 
more matters at the higher end of that 
spectrum. While the External Review 
Leadership Team actively controls 
review processes to help expedite 
matters and ensure timeliness, the 
time taken to conduct a review will  
be influenced by a range of factors  
not necessarily within our control.  
Key factors that influence the length  
of time taken to resolve a review  
are discussed above. 

In 2017–18 we also dealt with  
record demand for external review 
services and a high number of reviews 
on hand at the start of the financial year. 

We met our service standard measure 
for the number of external reviews 
open for more than 12 months at 
the end of the financial year of zero 
percent in 2017–18. 

Figure 10. External reviews that were 
open for more than 12 months at the 
end of the financial year period from 
2013–14 to 2017–18 – target 0%

Figure 11. Percentage of applications 
finalised

9mths 6mths 3mths

2013–14 89% 73% 44%

2014–15 88% 75% 51%

2015–16 84% 72% 47%

2016–17 87% 74% 52%

2017–18 85% 71% 44%

In 2017–18 we did not meet our 
performance target in relation to the 
percentage of reviews finalised to received. 
The target was 100 percent and we achieved 
95 percent. We did not meet this target 
because of the large number of external 
review applications received in 2017–18,  
in addition to the 207 matters carried 
forward from the 2016–17 year. 

We received 624 applications for external 
review of agency decisions in 2017–18 
and finalised 595. We received 21 percent 
more external review applications than the 
previous year. This was the highest number 
opened since the commencement of the RTI 
and IP Acts in 2009.

Last year’s result (80 percent) was exceeded 
despite the large increase in applications 
received and on hand from 2016–17 due 
to efficiencies gained through continuous 
review of our processes and procedures, as 
well as the diligence of external review staff 
and ongoing strategies to ensure resourcing 
of teams to deal with applications. 

Figure 12. Percentage of external review 
applications received and finalised – 
target 100%
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2013–14
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Timeliness however remains a very 
important performance measure.  
We continue to place a strong emphasis 
on early resolution and informal 
resolution and the project management  
of external review matters.

Figure 11 sets out the percentage  
of applications finalised within nine, 
six and three months. This indicates 
our timeliness has remained largely 
consistent with previous reporting 
periods.

2017–18

2016–17

2015–16

2014–15

2013–14

target 
100%

110%

98%

112%

80%

95%
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A suite of three decisions 
this year concerned 
whether de-identified 
information was personal 
information for the 
purposes of the IP and 
RTI Acts before then 
going on to consider 
whether the information 
in each case was on 
balance, contrary to  
the public interest  
to disclose. 

Information will comprise personal information if it is information or an opinion ... 
about an individual whose identity is apparent, or can reasonably be ascertained, from 
the information or opinion. Whether information comprises personal information has 
significant implications when determining whether the public interest weighs in favour 
of disclosure or not. Non-disclosure factors in the RTI Act relating to the protection 
of an individual’s right to privacy and the public interest harm caused by disclosure 
of another’s personal information do not apply if the information does not comprise 
personal information. The three decisions summarised illustrate this.

In Swiatek and The University of Southern Queensland [2017] QICmr 57 (8 December 
2017), we considered a table of assignment marks awarded to students in a particular 
subject which did not contain student names or student numbers and was attributed 
to 121 rows of information in no apparent order. After careful evaluation of strong 
arguments from the university, we decided that the individual identities were not 
reasonably ascertainable from the assignment marks as presented and did not 
comprise personal information. After consideration of various public interest factors 
favouring non-disclosure that the university argued applied, we decided that the public 
interest weighed entirely in favour of disclosure. This decision is on appeal to QCAT. 

In contrast, in I7YL5P and the Queensland Building and Construction Commission 
[2018] QICmr 17 (19 April 2018), we decided that identification of adjudicators 
appointed to determine payment dispute applications under the Building and 
Construction Industry Payments Act 2004 (Qld) were reasonably ascertainable  
from fee information when cross referenced with publically available information.  
The two key non-disclosure factors intended to safeguard a citizen’s right to privacy  
and the harm factor which is designed to protect the personal information of 
individuals were determinative in the finding that overall, the public interest  
weighed in favour of non-disclosure. 

Finally, in Seven Network (Operations) Limited and Logan City Council [2018] QICmr 
21 (11 May 2018), we considered whether pixelated CCTV footage of assaults captured 
on council owned CCTV was personal information on the basis that the identity of 
individuals captured in the footage was reasonably ascertainable despite pixelation. 
While noting that footage is generally information-rich and required a more nuanced 
approach than paper based documents, we found that when pixelated the footage did 
not comprise personal information. 

We found as a general proposition, individuals in video footage may have certain 
attributes that allow for identification by stepping through a cross referencing process. 
However, whether an individual’s identity was reasonably ascertainable depended  
on an objective assessment of all relevant circumstances, on a case-by-case basis.  
The weight that attached to factors favouring disclosure relating to enhancing council’s 
accountability and informing the community of the operations of the council’s Safety 
Camera Program and contribution to public debate concerning street violence and 
government use of CCTV in public places was not outweighed by the low weight that 
attached to the non-disclosure factor concerning prejudice to an individual’s right to 
privacy. While this harm factor was found to apply, it carried low to moderate weight. 
This was because the footage did show violent acts (in some cases committed by and 
against minors) but the incidents took place in public spaces and the faces of the 
individuals were pixelated. 

KEY DECISIONS
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Applications for financial 
hardship status
Under section 67 of the RTI Act, a 
non-profit organisation may apply 
to the Information Commissioner 
for financial hardship status. 
During 2017–18 the Information 
Commissioner received eight 
applications from non-profit 
organisations for financial hardship 
status and seven were granted.  
This means the processing or access 
charge is waived. The decision 
that a non-profit organisation has 
financial hardship status has effect 
for one year from the date of the 
decision. If the organisation has 
any substantial improvement in 
its financial circumstances it must 
notify the Information Commissioner. 
Conversely if financial hardship status 
is not given and the organisation’s 
financial status deteriorates, it 
may make a further application for 
financial hardship status.

Applications to declare a 
person vexatious
One application to declare an 
applicant vexatious was made  
by an agency during 2017–18.  
The application was granted on 
the basis that the applicant had 
repeatedly engaged in access actions 
and the repeated engagement 
involved an abuse of process for 
an access action. The applicant is 
prohibited from making any access 
or amendment applications to the 
relevant agency for a period of 12 
months from the date of the decision, 
in this case, until 26 October 2018. 

Improving our service
Evaluation
In 2017–18 we undertook the 
following evaluation focused on  
our external review service:

•  at the closure of every external 
review we continued to review 
the file to determine what issues 
were considered and whether 
our information resources or 
annotated legislation need to 
be modified to reflect a new 
interpretation of the RTI and IP 
legislation, or consolidated to 
reflect a more extensive example 
of how the legislation may 
be interpreted in certain fact 
scenarios 

•  we reviewed and updated our  
suite of template documents to 
ensure all internal content was  
in plain English and reflected 
current style; and

•  we reviewed and updated internal 
practice manuals for external 
review officers to ensure efficient 
and consistent processes and 
procedures. 

In line with the Independent Strategic 
Review conducted in 2017, we 
also considered the potential for 
automated application status reports 
to be produced and distributed to 
agencies. Unfortunately, our existing 
case management database does not 
allow for the automatic production 
of meaningful reports that could 
be provided to agencies. We have 
instead, continued to focus on timely 
resolution of reviews through a case 
management model, maintaining 
regular contact with parties and 
providing meaningful (rather than pro 
forma) status updates. 

Stakeholder engagement
In 2017–18 we undertook the 
following stakeholder engagement 
focused on our external review 
service:

•  we liaised with agency officers  
on specific issues that arose  
as a result of the conduct of 
external reviews

•  we participated in awareness 
and training exercises including 
participating in a webinar with 
a not-for-profit group about the 
external review process and 
delivering decision writing and 
negotiation skills training in 
collaboration with officers from 
across our office 

•  we continued participating in 
quarterly RTI and IP practitioner 
forums to present on issues under 
the RTI and IP Acts that arise from 
time to time and impact a wide 
group of agencies; and 

•  we continued to collate and 
publish monthly case summaries 
demonstrating examples of 
external reviews resolved 
informally. These summaries serve 
to encourage agencies to engage 
with applicants to ensure effective 
access to information and also 
build an understanding of how  
we perform our role. 
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Feedback
In 2017–18 we received feedback 
focused on our external review service 
that applicants would prefer to 
complete an online rather than paper 
based survey following completion 
of an external review. We have now 
implemented this as an option for 
applicants having acknowledged that 
it was a more efficient approach for 
both the applicant and us. Agencies 
also complete an annual survey, and 
satisfaction with the external review 
service is at its highest level since 
2013–14. 

We consider all feedback about our 
external review services to determine 
if our processes or procedures were 
applied fairly and correctly. It is 
not uncommon for applicants to 
be disgruntled and aggrieved with 
agency decisions about access to 
information well before they take 
the step of making an external 
review application. We work hard 
to explain the limits of our role and 
manage applicants’ expectations 
of the review process. Frequently 
applicants conflate the legal issues 
in a review, that is, how the RTI and IP 
Acts apply to information in issue in a 
review, with the process of the review 
itself. We will continue our efforts 
to communicate with applicants 
effectively in this regard, while at 
the same time ensuring our staff 
are supported and trained in how to 
best manage difficult or challenging 
behaviours they encounter. 

Agencies also complete 
an annual survey, and 
satisfaction with the external 
review service is at its highest 
level since 2013–14.

A conflation of outcome and process 
is reflected within the comments 
received in the 11 applicant survey 
responses expressing dissatisfaction 
that were received in 2017–18. It is 
also noted that, in total, 35 applicant 
surveys were returned out of 595 
external reviews finalised. 

Figure 13. Percentage of applicants 
(who provided feedback) who were 
satisfied with the conduct of the 
external review – target 75%

2017–18

2016–17

2015–16

2014–15

2013–14

66%*
73%72%72% 74%

target 75%

*  11 of the 35 surveys returned in total for 
2017–18, from the 595 matters closed, 
expressed dissatisfaction. See discussion 
above.

2017–18

2016–17

2015–16

2014–15

2013–14

94% 94%
90% 91% 92%

target 75%

Figure 14. Percentage of agencies 
(who provided feedback) who were 
satisfied with the conduct of external 
reviews – target 75%
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Privacy advice and complaint mediation

Objective two – 
Provide an independent, 
timely and fair privacy 
complaint mediation 
service

Key activities:
•  promote within agencies a culture that recognises the benefi t of early 

resolution of privacy complaints through mediation; and

• engage with complainants to explain the process and manage expectations. 

Objective three – 
Assist agencies to 
achieve compliance with 
the privacy principles

Key activities:
• provide independent expert advice and assistance to agencies

• promote agencies’ early engagement of OIC privacy services

•  conduct reviews and provide recommendations on both specifi c and 
systemic matters; and 

•  determine whether in public interest to approve waiver applications 
through formal written decisions.

Figure 15. Privacy advice and complaint mediation service standards

Service standard
2013–18 

target
Achievement

2013–14 2014–15 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18

Percentage of complainants satisfi ed 
with the mediation service

70% 100%
Insuffi  cient 
meaningful 

data^

Insuffi  cient 
meaningful 

data^

Insuffi  cient 
meaningful 

data^

Insuffi  cient 
meaningful 

data^

Percentage of agencies satisfi ed 
with the privacy complaint 
mediation service provided

75% 100% 100% 100% 100% 88%

Percentage of privacy complaints 
fi nalised to received

100% 128% 90% 107% 84% 100%

Mean average days to make a 
decision whether to accept a 
privacy complaint

14 days 25 days 19 days 22 days 39 days 67 days

Mean average days to fi nalise an 
accepted privacy complaint

90 days 142 days 123 days 83 days 146 days 157 days

Number of advices, consultations 
and submissions

n/a n/a* 204 227 312 299

Participation in meetings, regional 
visits and information sessions

n/a n/a* 30 147 239 175

Number of reviews conducted 1 n/a* 1 0 0 1

* Not a Service Standard during this reporting period. 
^ There was a low response rate of completed surveys from complainants. 

The IP Act creates a right for individuals to access and amend their own personal information, and provides rules for how 
Queensland public sector agencies must handle personal information. We have a responsibility to assist agencies to 
comply with these rules.
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Our activities in relation to privacy  
can include:

•  providing expert privacy advice 
and assistance

• mediating privacy complaints

•  considering applications for 
approval to waiver or modify 
privacy principle obligations  
in the public interest; and

• issuing compliance notices.

Providing agency advice 
and assistance
A key activity in this service area is  
to assist agencies to achieve 
compliance with the privacy principles. 
This assistance ranged from providing 
verbal and written advice on privacy 
issues through to more detailed and 
often ongoing consultation on agency 
projects and programs, and active 
participation on working groups and 
specialist committees. 

Figure 16. Breakdown of the type of 
entity and number of advices

Type of agency
Number of 

advices
Queensland State 
Government 
Department

96

Citizen 52

Local government 41

Public authority 28

Private sector 
organisation

14

Health agency 12

Community sector 
organisation

8

University 7

Commonwealth 
Government 
Department

4

Professional 
association

1

Whole of government 
working group

1

Total 264

In 2017–18 we provided 264 advices to 
the community, government and private 
sector organisations. We also undertook 
29 consultations with State, National 
and Local Government agencies on new 
agency programs and projects and made 
six formal submissions to parliamentary 
inquiries, commissions and state 
government on matters relating to 
information privacy. Figure 16 provides 
a breakdown of the type of entity and 
number of advices.

In addition to these advices, we 
participated in 175 meetings, regional 
visits and information sessions. 

We assess Bills for their potential to 
impact on privacy rights. If appropriate, 
we make submissions to Parliamentary 
Committees on these issues and appear 
before Parliamentary Committees 
when requested. In 2017–18 our formal 
submissions to parliamentary inquiries, 
commissions and to Queensland 
Government included:

•  written and verbal submissions 
to the Queensland Parliamentary 
Legal Affairs and Community Safety 
Committee (LACSC) about the privacy 
implications of the Police and Other 
Legislation (Identity and Biometric 
Capability) Amendment Bill 2018, 
advocating for adequate privacy 
safeguards to be embedded in the 
identity-matching regime

•  a submission to the Commonwealth’s 
Parliamentary Joint Committee on 
Security and Intelligence on the 
Identity-matching Services Bill 
2018, again advocating for adequate 
privacy safeguards to be built into 
the regime to mitigate risks to privacy

•  a submission to the Queensland 
Parliamentary Education, Employment 
and Small Business Committee 
about the privacy implications of the 
Mines Legislation (Resources Safety) 
Amendment Bill 2018 and whether 
disclosures of personal information in 
certain circumstances are justified

•  a submission to LACSC on the 
Counter-Terrorism and Other 
Legislation Amendment Bill 2017 
raising privacy related concerns 
about expanded search and seizure 
powers exercisable by Queensland 
Police Service in response to terrorist 
acts and other critical incidents; and 

•  a submission to the Crime and 
Corruption Commission’s Taskforce 
Flaxton to inform its examination 
of corruption and corruption 
risks in Queensland Corrective 
Services facilities, focusing on risks 
association with unauthorised 
disclosure of personal information.

We were also consulted by a range of 
agencies on the privacy aspects of 
initiatives involving the collection, use 
and disclosure of personal information, 
and schemes involving the sharing of 
personal information, such as video 
footage and health records. 

We expect these areas will continue 
to draw a significant proportion of our 
focus and resources in 2018–19, as 
governments, businesses and individuals 
are increasingly using technologies 
that pose potential privacy risks or that 
can have unintended consequences 
for an individual’s privacy. The use of 
CCTV, drones, body worn cameras, dash 
cams, GoPros and mobile phones are 
changing the volume, complexity and 
frequency of the collection of information 
about other people, and especially their 
images. Pervasive social media use 
also has data and privacy risks. We will 
continue to monitor developments in the 
expanding use of these technologies and 
assist Queensland government agencies 
adopting these technologies, to comply 
with privacy principles. 

A key focus of consultation activity 
has been working with the Australian 
Government and other jurisdictions on 
the national identity-matching services 
regime. The Australian Government 
Department of Home Affairs and relevant 
Queensland Government departments 
continue to consult with us on the staged 
roll-out of key elements of this regime.
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The Australian Government is 
championing new identity matching-
services that share individuals’ images 
across jurisdictions to identify an 
unknown individual or to verify a known 
individual’s identity. 

The images, like driver licence photos 
and passport photos, will be shared 
via a central hub managed by the 
Australian Government’s Department 
of Home Affairs. 

The most controversial element of 
the regime is the Facial Identification 
Service. This service will enable an image 
of an otherwise unknown person, for 
example a picture of a person taken from 
CCTV, to be checked against the photos 
held by various government departments 
to try to identify that person. It is 
anticipated that all Australian State 
and Territories and the Australian 
Government will participate in the 
regime, so this will mean an image can 
be checked against millions of photos to 
try to identify someone. 

While there are some great benefits 
to this, like identifying a paedophile 
from child exploitation material and 
helping victims of identity crime restore 
their identities, there are also risks. 
We highlighted some of these risks in 
submissions to Parliamentary inquiries 
about the legislation that will facilitate 
this regime. Our concerns include 
potential for the service to expand to 
include broad surveillance of people 
in public places, like the surveillance 
currently occurring in some international 
jurisdictions, and the use of Queensland 
images by entities that do not have 
privacy protections comparable to those 
in Queensland. We have advocated 
strongly for measures to mitigate some of 
these risks, like including in the regime 
limitations on potential expansions of 
services and rigorous oversight and 
accountability mechanisms.

Points of interest
We continued to monitor 
international, national and local 
issues and trends in relation to 
privacy. In 2017–18, we witnessed 
some critical episodes highlighting 
privacy rights and risks, both in 
Australia and across the globe.  
A few of the significant developments 
providing an insight into the 
expanding nature of privacy concerns 
are outlined below.

•  The Facebook/Cambridge 
Analytica incident saw 87 million 
Facebook users’ personal data 
harvested via an app used by a 
small number of Facebook users. 
This data was then allegedly 
used to try to influence people’s 
political choices. Investigations 
are currently ongoing in Australia 
and other jurisdictions.

•  Information security researchers 
identified individual citizens 
by re-identifying de-identified 
data that was released as 
open data by the Australian 
Government Department of 
Health in August 2016. The Office 
of the Australian Information 
Commissioner (OAIC) investigated, 
concluding in March 2018 that 
the department breached privacy 
law and requiring it to review 
and enhance its data governance 
and release processes. The OAIC 
identified important lessons 
in its report for custodians of 
valuable repositories of personal 
information, primarily that  
de-identification of large and rich 
datasets for publication to the 
world at large is extremely difficult, 
and appropriate processes and 
expertise should sit behind any 
decision to release de-identified 
personal information.

CASE STUDY

•  The Australian Government’s 
mandatory data breach 
notification scheme commenced 
in February 2018. We prepared 
guidance on the scheme’s 
application to tax file number 
information held by Queensland 
agencies and advice on good 
practice about the notification 
of people affected by data 
breaches involving their personal 
information.

•  The European Union’s (EU) General 
Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) 
came into effect on 25 May 2018 
to harmonise data privacy laws 
across Europe. It applies to data 
processing activities where an 
establishment is in the EU, and to 
entities outside the EU if they offer 
goods or services to, or monitor 
the behaviour of, individuals in 
the EU. Therefore the GDPR has 
extra-territorial reach and could 
affect Australian businesses  
and government agencies.  
Non-compliant organisations 
can face heavy fines, so entities 
dealing with anyone in the EU 
need to carefully assess whether 
they need to comply with GDPR. 

•  ‘Strava’, a mobile app that 
connects athletes from around 
the world by tracking their 
fitness activities and sharing 
that information with other 
Strava users, published a data 
visualisation map showing its 
users’ activity. This inadvertently 
revealed secret United States 
of America (USA) army bases in 
conflict zones, including Syria 
and Afghanistan, where the users 
of the app are almost exclusively 
soldiers using the app when they 
exercise. Even users who had 
thoroughly read the app’s terms 
and conditions may not have 
known their data could be used  
in this way. 
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•  The ‘Microsoft Ireland’ case 
involved Microsoft challenging a 
warrant issued by law enforcement 
in the USA to hand over emails 
stored on a server in Ireland. This 
case could have had significant 
ramifications around the globe, 
and appeals went all the way to 
the US Supreme Court. Before the 
appeal was determined however, 
the US Congress passed the CLOUD 
Act, which specifically covers 
cloud storage of communications 
irrespective of server location. The 
case has since been dismissed. 
Presumably, depending on the 
relationship with a US business, 
this means that the US may be able 
to access information stored on 
servers in Australia.

Privacy complaint 
resolution
An individual who believes an 
agency has not dealt with their 
personal information in accordance 
with the privacy principles set out 
in the IP Act may make a complaint 
to the agency. If, after 45 business 
days, they are dissatisfied with the 
agency’s response, they may bring 
their complaint to us. We conduct 
preliminary enquiries to determine 
if we are authorised to deal with the 
complaint under the IP Act. Where we 
are authorised, our role is to attempt 
mediation of the complaint. If the 
complaint is not able to be resolved 
through mediation, then the individual 
may request we refer it to QCAT.

In 2017–18 we received 59 privacy 
complaints and finalised 59. These 
figures are consistent with previous 
reporting periods. 

Figure 17. Percentage of privacy 
complaints received to finalised – 
target 100%

 —   the act or practice being 
complained about is not in 
connection with the agency’s 
privacy obligations under the 
IP Act; or

 —  it does not concern the 
personal information of  
the complainant.

•  Had not met the requirements for 
a privacy complaint.

 —  The complainant has not first 
complained to the relevant 
entity and given it appropriate 
time to respond.

•  The Information Commissioner 
may decline to deal with or 
to further deal with a privacy 
complaint in circumstances 
including:

 —   where 12 months have elapsed 
since the complainant first 
became aware of the act or 
practice the subject of the 
complaint

 —  the complaint is ‘frivolous, 
vexatious, misconceived or 
lacking in substance’

 —   there is a more appropriate 
course of action available 
under another Act to deal with 
substance of the complaint; or

 —   although the complainant 
made the complaint to the 
respondent as required under 
section 166(3) of the IP Act, 
in the circumstances, the 
respondent has not yet had an 
adequate opportunity to deal 
with the complaint or part of 
the complaint.

Sometimes it is easy and quick to 
decide whether we should accept 
a complaint. Other cases are more 
difficult to work through and require 
more information from the agency and 
the person who made the complaint. 
There may also be more complex legal 
arguments involved. 

2017–18

2016–17

2015–16

2014–15

2013–14

100%

84%

107%

128%

90%

target 100%

Our role during mediation is 
to facilitate both parties to the 
complaint to find an outcome that 
resolves the matter. In 2017–18  
we accepted 23 privacy complaints. 
We also successfully mediated  
three complaints.

The reasons that the Information 
Commissioner may decline to deal 
with a privacy complaint and/
or decide not to accept a privacy 
complaint fall into the following 
categories:

•  Not authorised to deal with the 
privacy complaint. For example,  
no jurisdiction:

 —  the respondent was not an 
agency as defined in section 18 
of the IP Act; for example the 
entity complained about was 
a Commonwealth Government 
agency or a private sector 
organisation

 —   the privacy principles do 
not apply to the document 
of the entity or in relation 
to a particular function of 
the entity, or the agency 
complained about is an exempt 
agency under Schedules 1 and 
2 of the IP Act
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Mediation can require protracted 
negotiations between the parties 
who may not necessarily be in the 
same location, or otherwise available 
to meet in person. Most mediations 
occur remotely through postal 
correspondence, email and telephone 
discussions. It is not uncommon 
for delays to occur because of the 
unavailability of one of the parties. 
This means that we can infl uence, 
but not control, the timeliness of 
fi nalising an accepted complaint. 

Where a mediated outcome for a 
privacy complaint is negotiated 
involving even a small amount of 
fi nancial compensation, delays often 
occur in obtaining authorisation.

As noted above, our performance 
targets have been reviewed in 
2017–18. From 2018–19 our SDS 
measures will be simplifi ed from two 
to one timeliness measure for privacy 
complaints and related to the time 
taken to fi nalise a privacy complaint. 
The target will also be increased 
to 140 days. These changes refl ect 
the materiality, scope of infl uence 
and limitation of the measures, and 
experience over a period of fi ve years 
since they were introduced. 

Referral to QCAT
If during the course of the mediation 
it does not appear to the Information 
Commissioner to be reasonably likely 
that resolution of the privacy complaint 
could be achieved, the Information 
Commissioner must give written notice 
of this decision to the complainant and 
the respondent agency.

In 2017–18 we did not meet our 
performance target for making a 
decision whether to accept a privacy 
complaint. The target was 14 days 
and we achieved 67 days. Because 
we receive a small number of privacy 
complaints in a fi nancial year period, a 
handful of privacy complaints that take 
longer can have a big impact on the 
overall timeliness of decisions. 
For example, 25 percent of the 
complaints we received took over 
100 days for us to make a decision 
whether to accept the complaint, 
with three complaints each taking 
over 200 days. The complexity of the 
complaint combined with genuine 
practical reasons for slower responses 
by both agencies and complainants 
was the reason for these timeframes. 

Our target for fi nalising an accepted 
privacy complaint is 90 mean average 
days. Our result for 2017–18 was 157 
mean average days. This was due in 
part to a small number of complaints 
(six) accepted in 2017–18 that took 
over 200 days to fi nalise. Of these, one 
complaint was successfully resolved 
through a non-fi nancial settlement. Of 
the complaints not resolved through 
mediation, three involved fi nancial 
compensation in the remedies sought. 

Once we make a decision to accept 
a privacy complaint our sole 
responsibility becomes to ‘take 
all reasonable steps to cause the 
complaint to be mediated’. We have 
no power to make any determination, 
order or recommendation concerning 
the privacy complaint. 

Ultimately, the time taken to fi nalise 
a privacy complaint is substantially 
dependent on the individual 
circumstance of each complaint and 
the participation of the parties.

If subsequently asked by the 
complainant, the Information 
Commissioner must refer the privacy 
complaint to QCAT. In 2017–18, 
we referred four complaints to 
QCAT which is consistent with the 
number of referrals made in 2016–17. 
We currently play no role in QCAT 
as we are not a party in privacy 
complaint proceedings. 

In PB v WorkCover Pty Ltd (4 May 
2018), QCAT substantiated a breach 
of the privacy principles and made 
orders that the respondent pay 
the applicant compensation in the 
amount of $5 000. This is the second 
case in the Queensland privacy 
jurisdiction with an award of fi nancial 
compensation by QCAT.

Judicial review of decisions 
The Queensland Supreme Court may 
judicially review written decisions 
of the Information Commissioner 
under the Judicial Review Act 1991. 
One application for a statutory order 
of review was made to the Supreme 
Court during 2017–18. The application 
is still proceeding before the court. 
An application made during 2016–17
was fi nalised in 2017–18 with the 
matter returned to OIC for decision.

Our role during mediation is 
to facilitate both parties to the 
complaint to fi nd an outcome 
that resolves the matter.
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When concluding an internal complaint investigation 
process, the agency accidentally released the 
complainant’s name in correspondence it sent  
to respondents and witnesses involved in the 
investigation process.

Prior to coming to us, the complainant sought to have the 
complaint addressed by another complaint mechanism. 
The agency acknowledged that the error was regrettable 
and should not have occurred. It advised the oversight 
body that it had examined the circumstances of the 
breach to determine the causes and had taken steps 
to prevent any reoccurrence, including staff attending 
training and reviewing its procedures.

The individual then brought a privacy complaint to us. 
We accepted the complaint about a breach of the limits 
on disclosure of personal information. 

Queensland’s privacy jurisdiction is remedial in nature; 
the aim is to obtain remedies for the ‘damage’ suffered 
or experienced by the complainant as a consequence of 
a breach of privacy. 

As an employee of the agency the subject of the 
complaint, the complainant felt that the disclosure of 
their identity had caused them to be alienated in the 
workplace and proposed that a transition to a different 
role within the agency would resolve their privacy 
complaint. The agency responded that it was keen  
to work with the complainant and us to explore new 
career opportunities in settlement of this matter.

However, there were real and practical issues associated 
with this choice of outcome–including limitations 
with available vacancies, considerations arising from 
the matching of the complainant’s existing skills 
and experience and addressing the requirements for 
potential additional training and/or education. 

Despite the goodwill of both parties, and ongoing 
communications between the parties that were both 
constructive and amicable, after six months, the parties 
were no closer to achieving a suitable deployment. 

As such, we made a decision to discontinue OIC’s 
involvement in the potential resolution of the 
complainant with the parties continuing to work  
directly with each other to achieve resolution.

The complainant was the manager of a business unit in a 
government agency that frequently interacted with other 
government agencies to deliver its services. An officer in 
one of the other government agencies wished to contact the 
complainant as a matter of urgency. 

Instead of going through the formal work contacts for the 
business unit, the officer looked up the complainant in their 
agency’s internal database and found the personal mobile 
number of the complainant. The mobile number had been 
collected by the agency for an unrelated purpose and provided 
by the complainant in a personal capacity several years earlier. 

The officer contacted the complainant on their personal mobile 
telephone. The complainant was disconcerted to discover that 
the officer had accessed the database to find their personal 
number and then used it to call them for a wholly work-related 
purpose. 

The complainant lodged a privacy complaint alleging 
secondary use of their personal information – a potential 
breach of Information Privacy Principle 10 (IPP 10). Because 
the complainant’s mobile telephone number was previously 
obtained for a purpose different to the purpose in this instance, 
using the number to contact the complainant at work constituted 
a secondary use, bringing it under the obligations in IPP 10. 

The officer’s agency did not agree that their action was a breach 
of IPP 10. Its view was that because the officer accessed and 
used the information in the course of their work, there was a 
resultant ‘operational necessity’ that provided a defence to the 
claim of IPP 10 breach. 

We did not agree with this view and accepted the complaint 
about a breach of IPP 10. We acknowledged the fact that the 
officer did not have the complainant’s work contact details 
to hand but the complainant was a manager in a very visible 
business unit. The business unit’s direct telephone number was 
listed on the agency’s website and a relatively quick and simple 
search of the website would have located that information. 

In the resulting mediation the complainant sought an arguably 
modest amount of financial compensation to resolve their 
complaint. The officer’s agency, in large part based on its 
view that there had been no breach of IPP 10, would not agree 
to financial compensation. Both parties maintained their 
position and accordingly, we declared the complaint to be not 
resolved. As at 30 June 2018, the complainant had not exercised 
their option to seek referral of their privacy complaint to the 
Queensland Civil and Administrative Tribunal. 

CASE STUDYCASE STUDY
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Assessing waiver 
applications
Section 157 of the IP Act allows an 
agency or bound contracted service 
provider to apply to the Information 
Commissioner for approval to not 
comply with the privacy principles or 
to comply in a different way. Approval 
will only be granted where the 
Information Commissioner is satisfied 
that the waiver or modification is 
more strongly in the public interest 
than compliance with the principles. 

We did not receive any applications 
for waivers or modifications of the 
privacy principles during 2017–18.

Improving our service
Evaluation
In 2017–18 we undertook the 
following evaluation focused on our 
privacy service:

•  agency and client satisfaction is 
important to us and one of the 
service standards against which 
our performance is measured. We 
measure our performance through 
a short survey. We launched an 
online survey in 2017–18, which 
saw a small increase compared 
with previous years to three survey 
responses from complainants  
from the 15 accepted complaints. 

While the completed surveys 
reported a very high level of 
satisfaction with our complaint 
handling service, the response 
rate was too low to obtain 
meaningful data

•  we conducted a survey of our 
practitioner network to find out 
what they thought about the 
resources and events that we 
organised for Privacy Awareness 
Week 2017. We found that 
60 percent of agencies that 
responded to our survey reuse 
our resources to promote Privacy 
Awareness Week rather than 
developing their own, with the 
most frequently used resources 
being posters, tip sheets and 
videos; and

•  in 2017–18 we reviewed our 
performance measures and targets 
as mentioned above and from 
2018–19 our SDS measures will 
be simplified from two to one 
timeliness measure for privacy 
complaints and related to the 
time taken to finalise a privacy 
complaint. The target will also be 
increased to 140 days. 

Stakeholder engagement
In 2017–18 we undertook the 
following stakeholder engagement 
focused on our privacy service:

•  we continued participating in 
quarterly RTI and IP practitioner 
forums to present on issues under 
the RTI and IP Acts that arise from 
time to time and impact a wide 
group of agencies 

•  we hosted a meeting with 
members of Privacy Authorities 
Australia to discuss issues and 
trends relevant to the protection of 
individuals’ personal information 
and data; and

•  we promoted understanding of 
and compliance with the privacy 
principles at a number of high 
profile legal, local government 
privacy and information 
conferences and seminars 
including Legal Aid Queensland, 
Queensland Law Society, LawRight 
and Queensland University of 
Technology. 

More information about our key 
partnerships and networks as well  
as consultations and submissions  
is available on page 36.
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Objective four – Improve 
agencies’ practices in 
right to information and 
information privacy

Assistance and monitoring
Key activities:
• provide training, tools and practical resources

• monitor, audit and report on agencies’ compliance with the legislation; and

• build key partnerships and networks. 

Objective five – Promote 
greater awareness of 
right to information 
and information privacy 
in the community and 
within government

Key activities:
•  inform agencies and the community about information rights and 

responsibilities 

•  provide information and assistance to the community and agencies  
through authoritative online resources and enquiry service advice 

•  advise and influence key stakeholders on emerging trends and issues  
of significance; and

•  assist agencies to increase the flow of information to the community  
by encouraging information rich websites with clear pathways to  
access information.

Figure 18. Assistance and monitoring service standards 

Service standard 2013–18 
target

Achievement

2013–14 2014–15 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18

Percentage of agencies satisfied with the 
information and assistance provided by the Office

80% 99% 96% 100% 100% 100%+

Percentage of agencies satisfied with the quality 
of information provided

75% 97% 97% 100% 98%* 100%*

No. of training activities provided 30 36 32 35 41 33

No. of people trained$ 500 8 479 6 913 9 295 9 676 13 909

Percentage of course participants satisfied with 
sessions

75% 88% 98% 99% 94% 98%

No. of awareness activities conducted 190 303 337 421 684 307

No. of enquiry (written and oral) responses 2 500 3 974 3 980 4 686 5 081 5 057

No. of website visits 80 000 97 216 115 215 144 458 173 506 204 962

No. of monitoring and compliance activities 10^ 47 31 69 4# 3#

*  In 2016–17 we amended this satisfaction survey question into five separate questions to obtain more specific feedback around whether agencies 
found our guidelines and information sheets easy to find, understand, relevant, accurate and complete. The percentage total represents an 
average of the responses provided. 

+  We amended the satisfaction survey question in 2017–18 to gather more detailed feedback around agencies’ interactions with the Enquiries 
Service in relation to ease of access, timeliness of response, listening and understanding, and providing clear, relevant information which 
answered the enquirer’s query. The percentage total represents an average of the responses provided. 

#  In 2016–17 we discontinued counting the number of monitoring and compliance activities to focus on the outputs resulting from our activities 
i.e. number of reports tabled in Parliament. 

^  From 2018–19 we will change the performance target accordingly, from 10 activities to 5 reports tabled. 
$  The number of training participants is an approximation, as estimates of attendance numbers are applied for some training activities.
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  Right to Information/ 
Information Privacy access  
or amendment – 67.05%

  Privacy principles or  
complaints – 15.87%

  Other jurisdiction – privacy or 
freedom of information – 9.87%

 Other – 5.89%

 Miscellaneous2 – 1.3%

Figure 21. Breakdown of phone enquiries by enquirer type3 

2 Includes calls relating to the administration of the Office, wrong numbers and calls uncategorised due to service interruption or technical error. 
3 Statistics for enquirer type do not include period 1 July – 25 October due to a change in call management platform in October 2017 as part of Office relocation.

Information and 
Assistance 
Our Enquiries Service responded  
to 5 057 enquiries from the 
community and agencies in 2017–18. 
The Enquiries Service operates from 
8:30am to 4:30pm Monday to Friday. 
Enquiries were received through  
the phone service, email, letters  
and website: 

• 3 559 telephone calls

• 1 369 emails/letters; and

• 129 web enquiries.

Figure 19. Number of enquiries 
received over a five year period – 
target 2 500

Figure 20. Breakdown of enquiries by topic

In addition to operating the Enquiries Service, we maintain an extensive suite 
of guidelines, information sheets and other resources for agencies and the 
community on our website. During 2017–2018, we published 10 new resources 
and extensively reviewed 23 resources to address trends identified through the 
Enquiries Service and our other statutory functions, as well as reviewing and 
refreshing resources due to their age, legislative changes, or a change in our 
position on a particular matter.

 Individuals – 49.23%

  Queensland Government 
departments – 17.44%

 Local governments – 10.33%

 Statutory bodies – 8.39%

  Hospital and Health  
Services – 4.38%

 Public universities – 1.52%

 Other – 8.68%

In 2017–18 the majority of enquiries related to access to or amendment of 
documents under the RTI and IP Acts (67 percent). Approximately 49 percent of 
enquiries were made by individuals and 42 percent were made by Queensland 
government agencies. 

2017–18

5 057

2016–17

5 081

2015–16

4 686

2014–15

3 980

2013–14

3 974

target 2 500

Enquiries came in from members 
of the public, hospital and health 
services, statutory authorities,  
local government, universities  
and government departments.  
They ranged in complexity from basic 
‘how do I make an application/privacy 
complaint?’ enquiries and ‘am I on 
the right track with what I need to 
consider for this exempt information 
provision/public interest factor?’ 
through to unique and complex 
scenarios which had not yet been 
tested under the legislation. We 
provided comprehensive information 
and assistance, often in writing with 
links to relevant online resources. 
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From enquiries to guidelines: adding clarity to 
compliant applications 
Each year we develop new resources to meet agency and community needs. 
We decided to develop a new guideline called Assessing the Terms of an 
Access Application after receiving enquiries from a wide cross-section of 
agencies about access applications that raised compliance issues with section 
24(2)(b) of the RTI Act and section 43(2)(b) of the IP Act. 

These sections require applicants to describe documents they are seeking in 
a way that allows decision makers to identify, search for, and make decisions 
on them. Applicants are generally not familiar with agency recordkeeping 
practices, and so can write applications in ways that make it difficult to 
identify and search for documents. This can result in confusion for the agency 
and an unmanageable number of documents, many of which the applicant 
would not be interested in, and some of which are beyond the resources of 
the agency to process. 

The existing guideline on noncompliant applications did provide some high 
level guidance about section 24(2)(b) and section 43(2)(b) but did not explain 
the effect of those sections or provide assistance to agencies about how 
to effectively engage with applicants who are not sure how to frame their 
application. While the principles on compliance with those sections were well 
established, they were set out in a number of decisions, some of which were 
quite old. 

Reviewing the guideline allowed us to bring together the relevant decisions, 
expanding on and explaining their principles. Assessing the Terms of an 
Access Application has assisted agencies in applying those principles while 
balancing their obligation to work with applicants to refine their applications 
so they are compliant. 

We promoted our new guideline online and through a presentation at the 
practitioner forum.

All our resources are available at www.oic.qld.gov.au 

CASE STUDY

Training 
In 2017–18 we undertook the 
following training activities to improve 
Queensland government agencies’ 
practices in RTI and IP:

•  face-to-face workshops covering 
topics such as privacy impact 
assessments

•  online training courses for agency 
staff required to comply with the 
RTI and IP Acts, including staff 
of bound contracted service 
providers; and

•  webinars.

The following training courses were 
also offered for practitioners:

•  Fast Track Negotiation Skills 
training course which recognises 
that facilitating access to 
information often involves a 
series of rapid negotiations with 
a range of internal and external 
stakeholders; and

•  Decision-writing training which 
enhances clarity, understanding 
and persuasiveness when 
providing written reasons for an 
information access decision. 

In addition to training for 
practitioners, specialised training  
and awareness was developed for 
agency staff and others according  
to their role, with sessions delivered 
for council staff, senior management, 
university students and legal 
professionals.  
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For example, we delivered a webinar 
about access applications and 
external review to legal professionals 
working within Community Legal 
Centres Queensland, and tailored 
training relating to decision making 
and decision writing for decision 
makers from South Burnett Regional 
Council, North Burnett Regional 
Council, Western Downs Regional 
Council and Gympie Regional Council. 
We also delivered tailored training in 
the following locations:

•  Cairns (involving Cairns and 
Hinterland Hospital and Health 
Service, Cairns Regional Council, 
Torres Shire Council, Cook Shire 
Council, Mareeba Shire Council 
and Douglas Shire Council)

•  Atherton (involving the Tablelands 
Shire Council)

•  Rockhampton (involving Central 
Queensland Hospital and Health 
Service, Rockhampton Regional 
Council, local Department of 
Transport and Main Roads  
staff); and 

•  Gladstone (involving Gladstone 
Regional Council, Livingstone 
Shire Council and Banana  
Shire Council).

Online training
Individuals and agencies are able  
to access our online training courses 
free of charge. We actively encourage 
Queensland public sector agencies 
to embed the online training in staff 
induction and internal compliance 
regimes. The courses are designed 
to offer both general awareness of 
information rights and responsibilities 
as well as more specific application of 
the RTI and IP Acts.

Our suite of online training courses 
consists of:

• IP Act—general awareness

• RTI Act—general awareness 

•  Public Health Agencies and the IP 
Act

•  Privacy Complaint Management 
training; and

•  Access training for decision 
makers (three separate modules).

During the reporting period  
13 197 participants4 completed  
our online training courses.

We continued using web-based 
technologies to maximise learning 
opportunities for stakeholders 
throughout Queensland, and to 
increase efficiency of resources  
in meeting the changing needs  
of agencies.

In doing so we offered free training 
webinars. This online delivery method 
allowed interested stakeholders 
to participate regardless of their 
geographical location.

Training presentations were recorded 
and made available on our website, 
allowing users to access the resource 
at their convenience.

4  Participants may have undertaken multiple training modules during the year. Each module is counted separately.
5  People may have participated in multiple training activities during the year. Each participation is counted separately. 
6  The number of training participants is an approximation, as estimates of attendance numbers are applied for some training activities.

Our web-based training in 2017–18 
included:

•  Privacy Complaint Management 
(webinar and e-lecture)

•  Privacy Impact Assessment 
(webinar and e-lecture); and

•  Access application and external 
review training for Community 
Legal Centres Queensland 
(webinar).

We evaluate all scheduled and online 
training to facilitate continuous 
improvement and to determine the 
participant’s level of satisfaction with 
the training. In 2017–18, 98 percent 
of training participants were satisfied 
with sessions provided.

In 2017–18 we trained approximately 
13 900 people5. This is a 44 percent 
increase from the previous reporting 
year. The greatest contributing 
factor was one agency incorporating 
our online training into their own 
learning management system and 
then requiring all staff to complete 
it. As a result, this particular agency 
accounted for 50 percent (6 576) of 
our total number of online training 
participants in 2017–18. Access in this 
manner is more effective and efficient 
for agencies. 

Figure 22. Number of people trained6 
– target 500

2017–18

2016–17

2015–16

2014–15

2013–14

13 909

9 6769 295

6 913

8 479

target 500
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Promoting awareness 
Key activities 

Right to Information Day
Right to Information Day (RTI Day)  
is designed to raise awareness of 
every individual’s right of access  
to government-held information.  
We celebrate RTI Day on International 
Right to Know Day, on which citizens 
and governments from around the 
world can support this fundamental 
human right and promote open, 
democratic societies in which there 
is full citizen empowerment and 
participation in government.

In 2017, RTI Day featured the theme 
‘Right to Information: Open and 
accountable government and the 
media’s role.’ This year we saw 50 
organisations from the public and 
private sectors join our partner 
program demonstrating their 
commitment and support for open 
government while raising awareness 
more broadly. We provided our 
partners with a range of resources for 
them to use, such as an animation, 
brochures, posters and checklists.

The Solomon Lecture forms an 
important part of RTI Day activities 
and recognises Dr David Solomon’s 
contribution to facilitating greater 
and easier access to government-held 
information.

Solomon Lecture
One of Australia’s most respected 
journalists, Mr Kerry O’Brien,  
delivered the 2017 Solomon Lecture.  
Mr O’Brien’s lecture focused on the 
30th anniversary of the Fitzgerald 
Inquiry—the subsequent report 
brought about a fundamental shift 
in Queensland’s political landscape 
and governance, including freedom 
of information legislation. Mr O’Brien 
revisited some of the lessons learnt 
over the past three decades around 
open government, transparency 
and accountability. Key themes 
discussed included the right to access 
government held information, the 
media’s role in keeping the community 
informed about government decisions, 
and the impact transparency and 
accountability can have on building the 
community’s trust in government.

The event’s Master of Ceremonies,  
well known journalist and media 
personality Ms Madonna King, led a 
panel discussion following the lecture. 
The panel consisted of Mr Kerry O’Brien, 
Dr David Solomon AM, Professor 
Peter Coaldrake AO, Vice Chancellor, 
Queensland University of Technology 
and Ms Alison Sandy, 7News Freedom 
of Information Editor. 

The Solomon Lecture and panel 
discussion were recorded and 
livestreamed at an open public event. 
The recording is publically available  
on our website and YouTube channel.  
In support of RTI Day we produced 
a range of resources including 
posters, digital images and tailored 
communications collateral for 
stakeholders to use. 

Information Commissioners and 
Ombudsman with information access 
oversight roles across Australia 
and New Zealand attended the 
Solomon Lecture. The Queensland 
Information Commissioner and Right 
to Information Commissioners then 
hosted an Association of Information 
Access Commissioners meeting on 
28–29 September 2017 in Brisbane. 
The Commissioners approved the 
publications of freedom of information 
metrics, following public consultation, 
to give effect to the Open Government 
Partnership National Action Plan 
Commitment 3.2. The meeting also 
included discussion on external review 
early resolution, audit and evaluation 
strategy and methodology, the 
Manchester International Information 
Commissioner’s conference,  
de-identification of personal information, 
and changes in Victoria and the ACT. 

L to R: Information Commissioner Rachael Rangihaeata, Professor Peter Coaldrake 
AO, Mr Kerry O’Brien, Ms Alison Sandy, Dr David Solomon AM, Ms Madonna King, 
Right to Information Commissioners Ms Clare Smith and Ms Jenny Mead

Australian Information Access 
Commissioners and Mr Kerry O’Brien

Ms Madonna King Mr Kerry O’Brien
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Privacy Awareness Week

We participated in Privacy Awareness 
Week (PAW) from 14 to 20 May 
2018, as an active member of the 
Asia Pacific Privacy Authorities. Our 
awareness-raising featured the theme 
‘Value personal data–it’s worth 
protecting’ and was aimed at the 
community and public sector. PAW 
included an official launch, open to 
the public, by the Honourable Yvette 
D’Ath MP, Attorney-General and 
Minister for Justice. 

The launch event featured 
presentations from Professor David 
Lacey, Managing Director of IDCARE 
and Professor of Cyber Security at the 
University of the Sunshine Coast and  
Mr Paul McCarney, CEO of Data Republic.

We livestreamed and recorded 
the PAW launch. The recording is 
publically available on our website 
and YouTube channel. In support 
of PAW we produced a range of 
resources including posters, privacy 
checklist, a privacy quiz and tailored 
communications collateral for 
stakeholders to use.

Three separate 90 minute digital self-
defence and privacy workshops were 
held for the community. These practical 
hands-on workshops walked attendees 
through cleaning up their undesirable 
Facebook photos, deleting sensitive 
material in their Gmail account and 
removing past tweets.

The workshops focused on the 
importance of privacy in the data age, 
information that various social media 
platforms harvest and techniques on 
minimising personal data footprints.

We also participated in a number of 
agency PAW activities by delivering 
presentations to senior management 
and staff including Mackay Regional 
Council, Metro South Hospital and 
Health Service (Logan Hospital), 
Logan City Council, South Burnett 
Regional Council and Department of 
Health. An event was also held at the 
Mackay Hospital and Health Service 
in partnership with the Integrity 
Commissioner. 

This year we saw 22 organisations from 
the public and private sectors become 
a PAW partner and demonstrate their 
commitment and support for raising 
privacy awareness. For example the 
Crime and Corruption Commission 
distributed information to staff, 
displayed PAW collateral, promoted 
through their social media channels 
and issued a media release about  
PAW as well as warning public  
servants about unauthorised  
access to information. 

Mr Paul McCarney

L to R: Professor David Lacey, The Hon. 
Yvette D’Ath MP, Privacy Commissioner 
Philip Green, Mr Paul McCarney

The Honourable Yvette D’Ath MP, 
Attorney-General and Minister  
for Justice

Privacy Awareness Week Launch

Professor David Lacey Privacy Commissioner 
Philip Green
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Digital engagement
Our website is a primary communication 
tool and a key source of knowledge for 
stakeholders on right to information 
and information privacy in Queensland. 
We continued promoting our website to 
encourage visitors to use our extensive 
suite of information and other resources.

The website features tools and resources 
designed to promote awareness of 
information rights and responsibilities of 
all stakeholders, including members of 
the community and public sector staff. 

Our website features annotated 
legislation with commentary and case 
references to assist in the application of 
the RTI and IP Acts. 

During the reporting period our website 
received 204 962 visits. This is an 18 
percent increase from 2016–17. 

Figure 23. Number of website visits – 
target 80 000

The lower number was a result of using 
more targeted communication channels 
which delivered key messaging to the 
intended audience more effectively  
and efficiently.

Rural and regional 
engagement
We engaged with rural and regional 
agencies to provide targeted support 
to increase awareness of information 
rights and responsibilities and improve 
compliance with the legislation. 

For example:

•  Townsville Hospital and Health Service
• James Cook University
•  Mackay Hospital and Health Service
• Mackay Regional Council
• Gladstone Regional Council
• Cairns Regional Council
• Livingstone Regional Council
• Torres Shire Council
•  Torres and Cape Hospital and  

Health Service
• Rockhampton Regional Council
• Whitsunday Regional Council
• South Burnett Regional Council
•  Western Downs Regional Council; and
•  Far North Queensland Regional 

Organisation of Councils:
 —  Carpentaria Shire Council
 —  Cassowary Shire Regional Council
 —  Cook Shire Council
 —  Croydon Shire Council
 —  Douglas Shire Council
 —  Etheridge Shire Council
 —  Hinchinbrook Shire Council
 —  Hope Vale Aboriginal Shire Council
 —  Mareeba Shire Council
 —  Tablelands Regional Council
 —  Yarrabah Aboriginal Shire Council
 —  Wujal Wujal Aboriginal Shire Council.

We participated in radio and print 
media interviews, such as the Gympie 
Times and ABC North Queensland, to 
increase the reach of our message about 
information access and privacy rights 
and responsibilities and reach a broader 
audience reflecting Queensland’s diversity. 

Audit and evaluation
We audit government agencies and 
report on their performance and 
RTI and IP practices. Government 
agencies include departments, local 
governments, statutory authorities, 
government owned corporations, 
hospital and health services and 
universities. We also survey government 
agencies every three years to get a 
snapshot of their level of compliance 
with the RTI and IP Acts. The next  
survey is due in 2018–19. 

Last year we started transitioning  
from auditing technical compliance 
to more strategic engagements that 
improve accountability and enhance 
government openness. This reflects  
the agencies’ increased maturity in 
meeting their information access and 
privacy obligations.

Our strategic audit planning process 
assesses the value and achievability of 
potential audit topics. Environmental 
scanning and stakeholder engagement 
support the process to ensure our 
program of audits is risk-based 
and contributes to our objective of 
improving government agencies’ RTI 
and IP practices. In 2017–18 we focused 
our audits on the local government 
sector as its risk profile was higher than 
the risk for other sectors.

Reports to Parliament
We submit reports on the outcomes 
of audits under the RTI Act to the 
Parliamentary Committee for Legal 
Affairs and Community Safety, and 
under the IP Act to the Speaker, for 
tabling in Parliament.

In 2017–18 we tabled four reports7:

• Privacy and mobile apps

•  Compliance audit – Townsville City 
Council

•  Compliance audit – Ipswich City 
Council; and

•  Follow up audit of Council of the 
City of Gold Coast’s implementation 
of recommendations.7   Note – the Privacy and mobile apps report is 

counted under Privacy advice and complaint 
mediation, see page 21.

2017–18

2016–17

2015–16

2014–15

2013–14

204 962

173 506

144 458

115 215
97 216

target 80 000

Other web-based technologies, such 
as social media and multi-media, 
continued to be a valuable and cost 
effective communication method.  
Our dedicated YouTube Channel, Twitter 
feed and LinkedIn presence increased 
engagement opportunities and reach to 
the public sector and community.

In 2017–18 we conducted 307 awareness 
activities exceeding our target of 180. 
However, in 2016–17 we conducted 684. 
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Privacy and mobile apps
Government agencies are increasingly 
using mobile apps to connect with 
the community and deliver services 
to Queenslanders. Australians are 
becoming more discerning about 
privacy, and want to be able to choose 
the personal information they provide 
and how it is used, including in mobile 
apps. This means government agencies 
need to design mobile apps with 
privacy in mind.

We selected three mobile apps for 
detailed review:

•  QParents – operated by the 
Department of Education and 
Training 

•  MyTransLink – operated by the 
Department of Transport and  
Main Roads; and 

•  Policelink – operated by the 
Queensland Police Service.

We found that government agencies 
need to:

•  consider privacy upfront and adopt 
a privacy by design approach, to 
meet the requirements of the IP Act

•  reassess the privacy impacts of 
mobile apps regularly, for example 
when rolling out new features and 
updates, to identify vulnerabilities 
and manage their privacy 
obligations

•  inform users of the collection, uses 
and usual disclosure of personal 
information and the reasons for 
permissions sought; and

•  protect personal information, 
including testing the app for 
vulnerabilities before deploying  
it and at key stages of its life. 

In our report we identified  
examples of good practice and  
made recommendations to all 
government agencies.  

We are considering performing a 
follow-on audit, in which we will assess 
how other agencies handle privacy 
when developing and operating  
mobile apps.

Compliance audit – 
Townsville City Council
In April 2016, Townsville City Council 
asked consultants to review its 
management structure and make 
recommendations to improve its 
operations and financial sustainability. 
The council adopted the report in 
full in September 2016, and at the 
time of our audit, was implementing 
the recommendations, including 
restructuring its information functions.

We concluded that, as it progresses 
with its restructure, Townsville City 
Council has an opportunity to build a 
culture of openness and transparency 
by incorporating the principles and 
objectives of right to information and 
privacy in its policies, procedures  
and practices.

We found that Townsville City Council:

•  enabled participation and 
dialogue with the community 
through its committees, but 
needed to actively promote 
community and business 
representatives involvement

•  was proposing to re-establish 
its information management 
steering committee to oversee 
its information management 
capability and capacity

•  had adopted a delegation model 
that presented additional risks

•  did not ensure its staff were aware 
of their right to information and 
information privacy obligations

•  had an information asset register, 
however it had not identified the 
information holdings suitable for 
public release

•  generally managed its publication 
scheme in accordance with 
legislative requirements

•  had deficient case management 
tools that contributed to  
non-compliant practices

•  used a generic collection notice 
that did not give enough detail 
to understand why the council 
was collecting the personal 
information and how it would  
use it; and

•  had good documented processes 
and responsibilities in place for 
storing, accessing and releasing 
camera surveillance footage 
however, they do did not always 
align with the IP Act.

We made 24 recommendations for 
improvement and will monitor the 
council’s progress.

Compliance audit – 
Ipswich City Council
Ipswich City Council embarked on a 
major program of change following a 
review it commissioned in July 2017 
and started to transform its governance 
arrangements, corporate planning 
and reporting, and information and 
communications technology function. 
The council took the initiative to 
implement some of the improvements 
we suggested during the audit. 

We concluded that, although Ipswich 
City Council clearly states it is 
committed to right to information and 
information privacy, there is more it can 
do to proactively release information 
and fully realise the aims of the Acts. 
The council has the opportunity to 
embed consistent, efficient and 
compliant right to information and 
information privacy practices as it 
progresses in its change program.
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We found that Ipswich City Council:

•  had put its commitment to right 
to information and information 
privacy into practice in some areas

•  had various elements of 
information governance but did 
not bring these together in an 
information governance framework

•  handled audited applications in 
accordance with the legislation, 
and with a focus on speed and 
good client service

•  had trained its staff in information 
privacy, but not sufficiently in right 
to information or the application 
of right to information and 
information privacy to their  
work environment

•  had a good privacy resource in 
its Ipswich City Council Personal 
Information Digest; and

•  protected personal information in 
its Safe City camera surveillance 
system, but did not have mature 
policies, procedures and 
strategies for its two other camera 
surveillance systems.

We made 12 recommendations for 
improvement and will monitor the 
council’s progress.

Follow-up audit – Council 
of the City of Gold Coast
Our follow-up into the Council 
of the City of Gold Coast’s 
progress in implementing the 14 
recommendations of our 2015–16 
compliance review found that the 
council had fully implemented eleven 
recommendations. Most notably, the 
council had:

•  made significant efforts to improve 
its stakeholder and community 
engagement

•  implemented consistent 
procedures for business units to 
assess their own documents for 
release on the publication scheme.

We assessed three recommendations 
as in progress or partially implemented. 
This is because the council was 
transitioning to new systems at the 
time of the follow-up.

All our tabled reports are available 
at www.oic.qld.gov.au/publications/
reports

Key partnerships and 
networks
In 2017–18, we continued to provide 
assistance to agencies, and build 
and maintain key partnerships and 
networks, such as:

•  the RTI and IP practitioners’ 
network. The network is designed  
to facilitate the sharing of 
information and good practice 
guidance through a dedicated email 
subscription service and quarterly 
practitioner forums (attended  
by over 200 participants8).  
A steering committee of agency 
representatives ensures topics 
meet practitioner needs 

•  partnering with Queensland 
government agencies, public sector 
agency leaders and private sector 
organisations for RTI Day. Fifty 
agencies across a range of sectors 
and stakeholders partnered with us 
and helped promote information 
rights and responsibilities in 
Queensland as well as highlighting 
their organisation’s commitment to 
the principles of right to information

•  continuing to be an active 
member of the Asia Pacific Privacy 
Authorities. The group is the 
principal forum for privacy and 
data protection authorities in the 
Asia Pacific region. Members form 
partnerships and exchange ideas 
about privacy regulation, new 
technologies and the management 
of privacy issues. In July 2017 the 
Information Commissioner and 
Privacy Commissioner attended 
the 47th Asia Pacific Privacy 

Authorities Forum in Sydney hosted 
by the Australian Information 
Commissioner and Privacy 
Commissioner. A Data Privacy Asia 
Pacific Conference was held in 
conjunction with the APPA 47 Forum 

•  the Information Commissioner and 
Right to Information Commissioner 
meeting with members of the 
Association of Information Access 
Commissioners to discuss issues 
and trends relevant to Australian 
and New Zealand jurisdictions, 
including maximising proactive 
disclosure of information

•  the Information Commissioner and 
Privacy Commissioner meeting with 
members of Privacy Authorities 
Australia to discuss issues and 
trends relevant to the protection  
of individuals’ personal information 
and data, including a key focus  
on the impact of the increasing use 
of biometrics for identity purposes 
in Australia 

•  through the policy officer working 
groups established in 2017–18 
under the Privacy Authorities 
Australia and Association of 
Information Access Commissioners

•  collaborating with the International 
Association of Privacy Practitioners 
Australia New Zealand to help 
facilitate better connections 
between Queensland and 
Australia’s privacy practitioners

•  the Privacy Commissioner attending 
regular meetings as a member of 
the Queensland Government Cyber 
Security Committee, contributing to 
its strategic direction and playing a 
key role in enhancing Queensland 
Government’s cyber security

•  the Information Commissioner 
meeting with the Integrity 
Commissioner, the Chair of the 
Crime and Corruption Commission, 
the Queensland Ombudsman, the 
Auditor-General and the Public 
Service Commission Chief Executive 
on a quarterly basis

8  Practitioners may have attended multiple forums during the year. Each attendance has been counted separately.
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•  continuing to participate in a 
working group for communication 
officers within information access 
and privacy agencies across 
Australia. The group discussed 
individual activities leading up to 
RTI Day and PAW in order to share 
and promote resources and better 
coordinate activities and key 
messages, wherever possible

•  continuing to be a corporate 
supporter of the Open Data Institute 
(ODI) Queensland to further 
strengthen synergies between 
the open data movement and the 
RTI Act with respect to accessing 
government-held information 
i.e. datasets. ODI Queensland is 
unique in the global ODI network, 
having been formed and funded 
by a strong collaboration between 
private industry, academia, 
research, government and the 
community; and

•  working with Commonwealth, 
State and Territory Governments 
through the Open Government 
Partnership to develop and report 
on uniform metrics about the use 
of freedom of information laws to 
help the community examine the 
performance of those laws.

Policy analysis, advice 
and advocacy
The Attorney-General and  
Minister for Justice tabled the 
Report on the Review of the Right 
to Information Act 2009 and the 
Information Privacy Act 2009 on 
12 October 2017. The report made 
23 recommendations to improve 
and enhance the operation of the 
legislation. We will continue to 
assist the Department of Justice and 
Attorney-General to progress these 
recommendations, as well as the 
recommendations arising from  
the Independent Strategic Review  
of the office. 

We also provided analysis and 
advice on potential information 
access consequences of policies and 
initiatives. Formal submissions on 
implications for right to information 
matters included: 

•  a submission to the Queensland 
Parliamentary Legal Affairs and 
Community Safety Committee 
about the Inquiry into the Strategic 
Review of the Office of the 
Queensland Ombudsman relating 
to the recommendation to amend 
the RTI Act; and

•  a submission to the Queensland 
Parliamentary Economics and 
Governance Committee regarding 
the Mineral and Energy Resources 
(Financial Provisioning) Bill 2018 
and its proposed amendments to 
the RTI Act to introduce additional 
categories of documents and 
entities to which the RTI Act does 
not apply.

Less formal submissions and policy 
advice is also provided to agencies and 
individuals, both within Queensland 
and in other jurisdictions. In 2017–18, 
there were 22 informal submissions 
or pieces of policy advice provided on 
right to information matters. 

Improving our service
Evaluation
In 2017–18 we undertook the 
following evaluation focused on our 
assistance and monitoring service: 

•  we reviewed PAW and RTI Day 
events and identified what 
worked, what did not and made 
recommendations to improve 
future activities 

•  we reviewed existing information 
resources for readability, 
accessibility, and currency to ensure 
our resources continued to meet 
our stakeholders’ needs in the most 
concise and simplest way possible.  
For example: use of metaphors 

and analogies, when explaining 
more complex concepts to 
stakeholders to ensure that 
information is delivered and 
received accurately and concisely 
in an appropriate way

•  we reviewed our service 
delivery measures following the 
Independent Strategic Review of the 
OIC resulting in new measures for 
audit and assistance activities; and 

•  we completed a training and 
engagement needs analysis 
to identify the needs and 
requirements of our stakeholders. 
An online survey, phone 
interviews, meetings with 
stakeholders and relevant data 
informed the analysis. The results 
allow us to optimise and maximise 
the use of our resources the 
needs of agencies and strengthen 
information and privacy practices 
in agencies, including rural 
and regional. The completed 
analysis underpins our forward 
training strategy, in line with a 
recommendation made in the 
Independent Strategic Review of 
the office.

Our performance continues to 
exceed the objectives for training 
and awareness activities. As 
such, in 2018–19, we will review 
these measures, ensuring they 
are contemporary and looking for 
opportunity to measure impact as well 
as activity. 

Stakeholder engagement
In 2017–18 we undertook the 
following stakeholder engagement 
focused on our assistance and 
monitoring service:

•  we staffed an information booth 
and held a community information 
session at Gladstone Library as 
part of our RTI Day activities to 
raise awareness of information 
access and privacy rights 
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•  we continued organising and 
hosting quarterly RTI and IP 
practitioner forums to support 
good practice in information 
access and privacy. This forum is 
used to connect with and gather 
feedback on operational issues 
encountered by agency decision 
makers and privacy officers. It is 
also an opportunity to identify 
agency issues, trends and 
resource needs; and

•  we met with a range of key 
stakeholders to better understand 
their needs and inform our service 
delivery strategies, and to identity 
opportunities for partnership and 
collaboration in our engagement 
and support activities. 
Stakeholders included: Local 
Government Managers Australia 
Queensland, Local Government 
Association Queensland, 
Queensland State Archivist and 
Queensland Government Chief 
Information Officer. 

More information about our key 
partnerships and networks is 
available on page 36.

Service enhancement
We enhanced our service by:

•  progressing a communication 
and engagement, and a training 
strategy to assist us in achieving 
maximum impact through these 
initiatives. The communication 
and engagement strategy supports 
the identification, design and 
delivery of our messages and 
communication activities, with 
our broad range of stakeholders. 
The training strategy supports the 
development and delivery of our 
external training, incorporating 
both face-to-face and online 
training initiatives. The strategies 
address recommendations made 
in the Independent Strategic 
Review of the office 

•  in line with the Independent Strategic 
Review recommendation, issuing  
the Management and separation  
of functions policy to formalise  
our approach to minimise the 
perception associated with the  
dual role of providing advice and 
making decisions; and

•  changing to a new incoming enquiries 
telephone system as part of our office 
relocation in October 2017. During 
the change, the enquiries categories 
were adjusted to better capture the 
subject matter of calls and the type of 
enquirer who contacted the service 
(refer page 29).

Feedback
In 2017–18 we received feedback focusing 
on our assistance and monitoring service:

•  we used a short survey to measure 
training participants’ satisfaction to 
determine our level of performance 
over time (see Figure 24); 

•  we surveyed agencies satisfaction 
to obtain specific feedback around 
whether agencies found our 
guidelines and information sheets 
were easy to find, understand, 
relevant, accurate and complete 
(see Figures 25 and 26); and

•  we surveyed agencies satisfaction 
to obtain specific feedback around 
whether agencies found our Enquiries 
Service easy to access, listened and 
understood the query and responded 
in a timely manner with clear, relevant 
and useful information.

*  We amended this satisfaction survey question 
into five separate questions to obtain more 
specific feedback around whether agencies 
found our guidelines and information sheets 
easy to find, understand, relevant, accurate 
and complete. The percentage total represents 
an average of the responses provided. 

Figure 26. Percentage of agencies 
satisfied with the information and 
assistance provided by us – target 80%

Figure 25. Percentage of agencies 
satisfied with the quality of information 
provided by us – target 75% 

2017–18

2016–17

2015–16

2014–15

2013–14

88%

98% 99%
94%

98%

target 75%

2017–18

2016–17

2015–16

2014–15

2013–14

target 75%

97% 97% 98%*100% 100%*

*  We amended this satisfaction survey question 
into five separate questions to obtain more 
specific feedback around agencies’ interactions 
with the Enquiries Service in relation to ease of 
access, timeliness of response, listening and 
understanding, and providing clear, relevant 
information which answered the enquirer’s 
query. The percentage total represents an 
average of the responses provided. 

2017–18

2016–17

2015–16

2014–15

2013–14

target 80%

99% 96%
100% 100% 100%*

Figure 24. Percentage of course 
participants satisfied with sessions – 
target 75%
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Our resources
As at 30 June 2018, we:

•  had 42.26 full time equivalent (FTE) staff9. Our ongoing funded workforce 
was 33.1 FTE and we had approval for an additional four (4) FTE for temporary 
external review staff in 2017–18

•  received grant funding from the Queensland Government provided 
through the Department of Justice and Attorney-General. Our 2016–17 total 
appropriation was $6.468M; and

•  had approval to use up to $546 000 from accrued cash reserves for additional 
temporary external review staff to meet additional demand for services.

How we operate

Our people

9  Our FTE incorporates active and paid employees, including 2.6FTE on paid parental leave.

Figure 27. Number of full-time 
equivalent employees by gender 

NOTE: Active and paid staff only

Male

Female
32.86

Total
42.26

9.4

Seventy-three percent of our active 
and paid employees are permanent, 
including permanent employees 
seconded to work in the OIC from other 
Queensland government agencies. 

One permanent employee resigned 
last year. Our permanent separation 
rate is 2.5 percent.

As at 30 June 2018, four employees 
(3.6 FTE) were on parental leave.

No early retirement, redundancy or 
retrenchment packages were paid 
during the reporting period.
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Figure 28. Our structure

Our structure

Queensland community

Queensland Parliament

Parliamentary committee 
(Legal Affairs and Community Safety Committee)

Information Commissioner

Privacy 
Commissioner

Right to 
Information 

Commissioner

Director, Audit and 
Evaluation

Director, 
Engagement and 

Corporate Services

Responsible for 
reviewing decisions 
of agencies and 
Ministers on access 
to and amendment of 
information under the 
RTI and IP Acts.

Undertakes mediation 
of privacy complaints 
about Queensland 
public sector agencies, 
leads improvement of 
public sector privacy 
administration through 
promoting privacy 
rights and obligations 
which includes 
guidance, assistance 
and training.

Audit, review and 
survey public sector 
agencies and report on 
their performance and 
compliance with the 
RTI and IP Acts.

Responsible for 
enquiries about the 
operation of the RTI 
and IP Acts, and 
the development 
and maintenance 
of guidelines and 
information for public 
sector agencies and  
the community.

Leads and manages 
promotional, marketing 
communication services, 
media relations, 
stakeholder engagement 
and training activities. 

Leads and manages our 
administrative, financial, 
human resource, 
information technology, 
registry functions, 
records management, 
planning and facilities.
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Corporate services
In house corporate services provided 
by our staff are supplemented  
through service level agreements 
(SLA) with third-party providers.  
We continued our SLA with the 
Corporate Administration Agency 
(CAA) to provide human resource 
and finance services, and with 
Queensland Parliamentary Services 
(QPS) to provide IT services. 

Our total spend for corporate  
services this year was $338 811.  
This represents an increase of  
$35 442 from the previous reporting 
period ($303 369) largely attributable 
to increased costs in obtaining IT 
services.

Office relocation
Our lease at 160 Mary St, Brisbane 
expired on 30 November 2017. 
As we are part of the Queensland 
Government’s wider CBD 
accommodation strategy, we found 
suitable alternative accommodation 
with assistance from the Department 
of Housing and Public Works (DHPW). 

We secured new premises at 133 Mary 
St, Brisbane and the ongoing leasing 
commitments will be funded from our 
operational budget. DHPW provided 
funding for the new office fit out. 

Additional expenses were incurred 
in the lead up to the relocation to 
fund the purchase of new technology, 
including telephones, IT equipment, 
appliances and selected furniture. 
These were not covered in DHPW’s fit 
out budget. 

Information and 
technology
We completed a review of our ICT 
strategy that addresses our information 
management security requirements, 
informed our IT hardware procurement 
approach, explored risk in transitioning 
to a cloud based environment and 
informed our decision making on 
updating our software and service 
arrangements. In addition, the ICT 
strategy aims to identify opportunities 
to support a progressive and flexible 
workforce which can continue 
to deliver services effectively to 
both community and government 
stakeholders.

In line with our strategy:

•  we released an invitation to 
offer (ITO) to the market in May 
2018. Our SLA with QPS has 
been extended to 31 December 
2018 while we work through the 
outcome of the ITO; and

•  we updated our ICT fleet (which 
was approaching end of life), 
procuring new resources that 
maximise our staff’s ability to 
work flexibly and fully realise 
the features of our new working 
environment.

Workforce planning and 
performance
We have a comprehensive employee 
performance framework covering 
induction, performance management, 
staff development and recognition.
We foster ongoing learning and 
development of our people, to 
achieve a capable, professional and 
adaptable workforce. 

Strategies to minimise workforce risk 
and boost performance include:

•  consulting and collaborating with 
employees on issues that affect 
them including strategic and 
operational planning activities

•  working with employees to develop 
actions arising from the 2017 
Working for Queensland survey

•  offering and supporting flexible 
work arrangements 

•  supporting employees to take up 
opportunities to grow skills, for 
example through higher duties or 
secondments

•  coaching and mentoring by 
experienced officers

•  training courses, seminars and 
workshops

•  flexible deployment of staff 
to priority areas and to cover 
absences

•  continually improving our 
corporate systems and procedures 
to ensure staff have the tools to 
work efficiently and effectively

•  advertising positions broadly 
and developing key partnerships 
with tertiary institutions to recruit 
temporary assistant review officers

•  providing access to confidential 
counselling to staff and their 
families through our employee 
assistance program; and

•  providing and supporting 
wellness initiatives including flu 
vaccinations, sit stand desks, 
ergonomic assessments, end of 
trip facilities and employee run 
lunch time yoga.
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Flexible working 
arrangements
We recognise the importance of 
flexible work arrangements in 
attracting and retaining a highly 
skilled workforce. Our employees 
actively embrace flexible work options 
including flexible start and finishing 
times, part-time work, job sharing, 
telecommuting, accrued time and 
access to a parenting room. 

As at 30 June 2018, we employed  
22 part-time staff and 32 full-time 
staff, including four staff on maternity 
leave. Six staff members telecommute 
on an ongoing basis and other staff 
telecommute on ad hoc basis, and 
there are five job-share arrangements.

Capability Development 
During 2017–18 we spent $21 841 
on staff professional development, 
training and workshops. The annual 
expenditure equates to approximately 
0.40 percent of employee expenses, 
and an increase from $20 720 in 
2016–17.

This year, consistent with our  
Strategic plan we invested in employee 
capability and skills development in: 

• performance management

• project management

• emerging technologies

• legal skills; and

• plain language writing.

We developed a Career Strategy 
in collaboration with our staff. It 
supports employees to identify career 
growth needs and access appropriate 
development opportunities in line 
with best practice that encourages 
70 percent learning on the job, 20 
percent learning through others and 
10 percent formal training.

The career strategy re-focusses on a 
growth based culture that prioritises an 
employee’s individual growth through 
experiences. This will enhance an 
individual’s employability leading to 
improvements in job security, flexibility 
and employee talent.

The strategy falls within our broader 
human resources strategy focusing on:

•  building relationships across OIC 
and beyond

•  innovation and utilisation of 
technology

• growing and learning

• employee wellness; and

•  developing and supporting 
our people through various 
professional coaching programs.

All new staff members undertook 
online training in the areas of public 
service code of conduct, workplace 
bullying and workplace health and 
safety. This training will be offered 
to all staff in 2018–19 as a biennial 
refresher course. 

Consultative Committee
The consultative committee did not 
operate during the 2017–18 year as  
no staff members chose to act 
as union delegates. We remain 
committed to a high level of 
consultation and collaboration  
with all employees on matters  
that affect them in the workplace. 

Consultants and 
contractors
In 2017–18 we spent $89 170 on 
contractors and consultants. The 
expenditure was planned budget 
expenditure and related to the costs of:

•  facilitators to co-present training 
for agency right to information 
and privacy practitioners on early 
resolution negotiation skills and 
decision-writing

•  ICT contractor to support our ICT 
review and upgrade of our ICT 
systems and products; and

•  engaging short term contractors 
to provide us with additional 
administrative services.

Improving our service
In 2017–18 we continued to look 
for opportunities to enhance our 
corporate services, including:

•  refining internal business 
practices to simplify and 
streamline administrative 
activities

•  reviewing internal policies and 
procedures to ensure they are 
contemporary and support our 
business practices

•  updating our IT tools and services 
to maximise employee benefits 
and reduce wastage; and

•  collaborating with staff to ensure 
our developmental focus aligns  
with our strategic goals and  
staff career goals. 
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Our Executive management team

The Executive management team consists of the Information Commissioner, two 
deputy commissioners (Right to Information Commissioner and Privacy Commissioner) 
and the Director, Engagement and Corporate Services. 

Information Commissioner
The Information Commissioner is the chief executive and accountable officer for 
the Office of the Information Commissioner. The Information Commissioner is 
also an officer of the Parliament and performs statutory functions under the RTI 
and IP Acts. 

The Information Commissioner’s functions include independent merits review of 
Ministers and agencies’ access and amendment decisions, mediation of privacy 
complaints about agencies, audit and evaluation of agency compliance with the 
RTI and IP Acts, and assistance and training for agencies and the community.

Rachael Rangihaeata
Appointed as Information Commissioner on 20 September 2013, Rachael 
champions proactive disclosure of, and appropriate privacy safeguards 
for, information held by Queensland government agencies including local 
government, Queensland Government departments, public Hospitals and Health 
Services and universities, and public authorities. 

The Information Commissioner promotes awareness of information rights and 
responsibilities within the community and Queensland government agencies. 
Rachael and her leadership team engage with agency leaders to promote 
cultures that support better RTI and IP practices, including proactive disclosure, 
administrative access, pro-disclosure bias in formal access application  
decision-making and privacy by design. 

Rachael’s current term of appointment is to 30 June 2020.

Prior to her appointment as Information Commissioner, Rachael held senior 
leadership positions across all functions of the Office of the Information 
Commissioner since 2005. Rachael has over 20 years public sector experience, 
having also worked in various roles within the Queensland State and 
Commonwealth public service, primarily in strategic and legislative policy.

Rachael holds a Bachelor of Laws (Honours), Bachelor of Science (AES) and 
Graduate Certificate in Public Sector Leadership (PSM).

Rachael Rangihaeata
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Jenny Mead

Louisa Lynch

Clare Smith

Right to Information Commissioner
As a deputy to the Information Commissioner, the Right to Information 
Commissioner has particular responsibility for matters relating to the Information 
Commissioner’s functions under the RTI and IP Acts. The Right to Information 
Commissioner leads the external review services of the office and champions the 
push model of information access to government agencies and the community.

Clare Smith and Jenny Mead
Clare Smith and Jenny Mead shared the role of Right to Information 
Commissioner prior to their retirement in 2017–18.

Clare brought extensive experience in the Queensland Public Service working  
in government agencies and statutory integrity bodies for approximately 
30 years, which included leading legal teams. She practiced in the field of 
information rights and responsibilities for over 20 years. Before being appointed, 
Clare was Assistant Crown Solicitor, Crown Law, Department of Justice and 
Attorney-General. Clare holds degrees in Arts and Law from the University of 
Queensland and was admitted to the Bar in 1986.

Jenny has more than 30 years’ experience in the Queensland public sector and 
practiced in the area of information rights and responsibilities for approximately 
20 years. Jenny has extensive experience in policy and legislation work and 
managed a number of legal areas within government departments. Jenny holds 
a degree in Law from the Queensland Institute of Technology, was awarded a 
Graduate Diploma in Management (Public Management) and was admitted to the 
Bar in 1984.

Jenny and Clare were both appointed as inaugural Right to Information 
Commissioners on 4 October 2010. Jenny retired from OIC on 4 February 2018. 
Clare retired from OIC on 31 March 2018. Louisa Lynch commenced as Acting 
Right to Information Commissioner while Jenny and Clare took extended leave 
prior to their retirement.

Louisa Lynch
Louisa Lynch was appointed Acting Right to Information Commissioner on 21 
August 2017. Prior to this appointment, Louisa was an Assistant Information 
Commissioner at OIC for over six years. She brings more than 15 years of 
significant public sector experience and knowledge of the local government 
sector to the role of Right to Information Commissioner. Prior to joining OIC, 
Louisa was a senior lawyer in the Department of Local Government, Community 
Recovery and Resilience. She has also worked in legal professional roles 
in a number of government agencies including Queensland Transport, the 
Department of Local Government, Planning Sport and Recreation and the 
Department of Infrastructure and Planning.

Louisa holds a Bachelor of Laws and was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme 
Court of Queensland in 1990.

Following a recruitment and selection process, Louisa was appointed as Right to 
Information Commissioner by the Governor-in-Council in accordance with the RTI 
Act from 6 July 2018 to 5 July 2023.
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Privacy Commissioner
As deputy to the Information Commissioner, the Privacy Commissioner has 
particular responsibilities and delegations under the IP Act including dealing 
with privacy complaints that may involve mediation, consideration of compliance 
notices, applications for waiver of the information privacy principles or national 
privacy principles, raising awareness, creating resources and promoting good 
privacy and data protection practices in government and commenting and 
advising on significant projects and legislation impacting on privacy.

Philip Green
Appointed as the Queensland Privacy Commissioner in December 2015, Philip has 
an extensive career in the private and public sectors. Philip’s legal career at Allens 
included commercial banking and finance/insolvency. He has extensive central 
agency experience in criminal justice, legal and economic policy at the Department 
of the Premier and Cabinet in Queensland and a secondment to the UK, Strategy 
Unit in the Prime Minister’s Cabinet Office. Prior to his appointment, he led the 
Small Business division for the Queensland Government. He has a keen interest in 
innovation and technology law and was instrumental in establishing Queensland’s 
first administrative privacy regime. 

Philip holds degrees in Arts and Law from the University of Queensland and a 
Masters in Law from QUT, majoring in technology law and focusing on policy 
development surrounding intellectual property, privacy and commercialisation, 
information technology and regulation of the internet and media. Philip’s current 
term of appointment is to 10 December 2018. 

Director, Engagement and Corporate Services 
The Director, Engagement and Corporate Services leads the teams responsible 
for providing information and assistance, communication, engagement, training, 
corporate and registry services to our internal and external stakeholders.

This leadership role expanded to include the Training and Stakeholder 
Relations team and the Information and Assistance team in 2017. The broader 
role of Director, Engagement and Corporate Services was a result of a key 
recommendation from the 2017 Independent Strategic Review of the office.

Adeline Yuksel 
Adeline has led Corporate Services since December 2015. Prior to OIC, over 
the last 20 years Adeline held senior roles leading and managing corporate 
affairs teams across the public and private sectors. Adeline has a Bachelor of 
Communications and post graduate qualifications in marketing and international 
relations. She brings extensive experience in issues management, governance, 
communication, marketing, strategy development and community relations to 
OIC. Adeline is currently on secondment and will return in 2019.

Vivienne Van Der Laak
Vivienne joined us in February 2018 on a temporary basis to lead the 
Engagement and Corporate Services team. Vivienne has over 10 years’ public 
sector experience, and brings significant leadership capability from her time in a 
number of agencies. Vivienne holds a Bachelor of Laws, Bachelor of Behavioural 
Science and a Graduate Certificate in Policy Analysis. 

Philip Green

Adeline Yuksel

Vivienne Van Der Laak
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Our governance

The Information 
Commissioner is a 
statutory office holder 
appointed by the 
Governor-in-Council 
under the RTI and IP 
Acts, and is not subject 
to ministerial direction 
in the exercise of the 
functions under the Acts. 

Two other statutory office holders appointed by the Governor-in-Council support 
the Information Commissioner; the Privacy Commissioner and the Right to 
Information Commissioner.

The Information Commissioner is accountable to the Legal Affairs and Community 
Safety Committee (LACSC) of the Queensland Parliament and meets with the 
committee during the course of the year to report on the performance of the 
Information Commissioner’s functions and to discuss issues, such as our 
activities, structures and procedures, our work output, budget, Annual Report 
and any other significant issue. The parliamentary committee may also require a 
report on a particular aspect of our performance. 

In accordance with the RTI and IP Acts, the Information Commissioner provides 
an Annual Report to Parliament through the Speaker. Tabling of our Annual 
Report to Parliament, meetings with the LACSC and our Service Delivery 
Statement ensure our governance and accountability.

We also support the public sector’s corporate governance and accountability 
framework by assisting agencies to improve their RTI and IP practices.

While the Information Commissioner is independent of ministerial control, under 
section 133 of the RTI Act, our budget must be approved by the Attorney-General, 
the Minister responsible for the Act.

Related key elements of the governance and accountability framework include 
the Service Delivery Statement and Estimates Committee hearings. 

An independent strategic review of our office is required under section 186 of the 
RTI Act every five years. The terms of the strategic review are to be decided by the 
Governor-in-Council. 

Before a reviewer is appointed, the Minister must consult with the parliamentary 
committee and the Information Commissioner about the appointment of the 
reviewer and the terms of reference for the review. The strategic review is to 
include a review of the commissioner’s functions and performance of those 
functions to assess whether they are being performed economically, effectively 
and efficiently. 

An independent strategic review was conducted in 2016–17 with significant 
progress on implementation of the recommendations in 2017–18.

Legislative compliance
We comply with a range of legislative obligations:

•  a Workplace Health and Safety (WHS) program is embedded within our 
culture and practices. All staff are informed, and made aware each person’s 
responsibility to create and maintain a safe workplace. All staff are 
encouraged and expected to identify, report and address potential WHS risks 

•  access applications can only be made to the Information Commissioner by 
our staff in relation to their personal information under section 46 of the IP 
Act. No such applications were made in 2017–18
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•  the Code of Conduct for the 
Queensland Public Service applies 
to our staff as we are prescribed 
as a ‘public service agency’ under 
the Public Sector Ethics Regulation 
2010. In accordance with section 
23 of the Public Sector Ethics Act 
1994, all new starters are provided 
with information about the Code  
of Conduct as part of their 
induction program and are asked 
to confirm their understanding  
and ability to apply the Code.  
Staff can readily access the  
Code through our intranet 

•  new staff members are required 
to complete mandatory training 
upon commencement and at a 
biennial interval. The training is 
delivered online and includes 
the Queensland public service 
code of conduct, work health and 
safety, workplace bullying and 
domestic violence and general 
awareness training on the RTI 
and IP Acts. Mandatory training is 
supplemented through periodic 
discussions about the training 
content and its application in the 
workplace; and

•  our Strategic plan, staff 
performance agreements, 
procedures, practices and training 
give proper regard to the approved 
Code of Conduct, ethical decision 
making and Public Sector Ethics 
Act 1994 in particular, the ethics 
obligations of public officials and 
our values.

Internal and external audit
As a small agency, the responsibilities 
associated with internal audit and the 
maintenance of an appropriate internal 
control framework are discharged by  
the Executive management team. 
We now also have access to CAA’s 
internal audit services which are 
charged on a fee for service basis. 

This service is used to support our 
Executive management team in 
maintaining our risk management 
framework and associated strategies. 

A copy of the external audit report and 
certificate of our financial statements 
are supplied with this report (see 
page 50). The Auditor-General has 
provided an unqualified certificate 
indicating our compliance with 
financial management requirements 
and the accuracy and fairness of the 
financial statements.

Risk management
Our risk management framework 
encourages an integrated approach  
to managing all risks that impact  
on achieving our strategic and 
business objectives.This year, our 
internal audit provider conducted 
an audit on our approach to risk 
management. Opportunities were 
identified to further strengthen 
our framework, reflecting our risk 
management culture and operational 
practices into our policies and 
procedures. Implementation of  
these recommendations will occur 
in 2018–19.

Complaints management
Our complaints management process 
is available on our website. Complaints 
which cannot be informally resolved 
are to made in writing to the Director, 
Engagement and Corporate Services and 
are handled independently of the areas 
about which the complaint is made. 

Feedback is taken seriously and 
where specific improvements can be 
identified, they are implemented as 
soon as practicable. 

Complaints cannot be dealt with  
by us where the complaint concerns  
the merits or legality of a decision.  
In these circumstances, the 
participant may be able to appeal 
to QCAT or apply to the Supreme 
Court for a statutory order of review. 
Appeals and reviews of this nature 
can only be taken on a point of law.

During 2017–18, there were no 
substantiated general complaints 
about our office and there were no 
public interest disclosures received. 
One complaint, received in June 2018, 
remained outstanding at the end of the 
financial year.

Records management
Ensuring our staff use good 
recordkeeping practices continued 
to be a primary focus. We make and 
maintain full and accurate records of 
our activities and abide by any relevant 
policy, standards and guidelines in 
compliance with the provisions of 
the Public Records Act 2002 and our 
Retention and Disposal Schedule. 
The schedule guides us in managing 
our records and ensures they are 
accountable, reliable and secure.

Our systems are supported by 
internal guidelines, procedures and 
policies regarding the management 
of information and records. Records 
management is also incorporated 
in our business continuity planning. 
Throughout the year we continued to 
provide basic record keeping training 
for new staff members. 

We recognise that information security 
is a critical aspect of our business 
model and continue to look for 
opportunities to maximise our digital 
retention of records and reduce our 
paper footprint. 

Environmental 
sustainability 
Our waste management policy 
emphasises waste avoidance, reduction, 
reuse and recycling. We continue to 
reduce paper usage, and encourage all 
staff to recycle office and kitchen waste. 
Staff are expected to shut down their 
desktop computers overnight. 

Our new premises are fitted with light 
sensors, ensuring lights are turned off 
when facilities are not in use and the 
air-conditioning system was updated 
at the start of our tenancy to be more 
environmentally sustainable and efficient. 
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Our financial performance

Financial statements  
are formal records of  
an organisation’s 
financial activities and 
provide an overview of 
our short and long-term 
financial condition.

The financial statements consist of four major elements: the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, Statement of Financial Position, and Statement of 
Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows.

The financial statements that follow provide an overview of our financial 
activities during 2017–18. The Queensland Audit Office reviewed these 
statements, our supporting documentation and our systems and processes.  
We received an unqualified audit report. 

Financial outlook
Figure 29. Five year comparison of revenue versus expenses ($’000)

2013–14 2014–15 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18
Appropriation 6 112 6 204 6 300 6 372 6 429

Other revenue 64 88 83 64 57

Employee expenses 4 850 4 406 5 125 5 215 5 467

Supplies and services 1 152 1 099 1 374 1 415 1 431

Depreciation and amortisation 115 115 112 109 49

Other expenses 15 15 19 21 23

Surplus (Deficit) 44 657 (247) (324) (484)
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Financials (Audit Office)
A more detailed view of our financial 
performance is provided in the Office 
of the Information Commissioner 
Queensland Financial Statements for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2017. 

The audited financial statements are 
available at page 50.

Summary 
We ended the year in a secure 
financial position with adequate 
reserves to fulfil our responsibilities in 
2018–19. We accessed $484 000 from 
cash reserves (accrued surpluses) 
to fund additional temporary 
External Review staff in 2017–18, in 
accordance with approval from the 
Attorney-General to access $546 000 
under section 133 of the RTI Act. These 
funds were used to retain temporary 
review officers pending a permanent 
funding solution as recommended 
by the Independent Strategic Review 
report. We continued, however, to 
experience difficulty recruiting and 
retaining temporary external review 
staff for the duration of the period.

The Independent Strategic Review 
recommended that OIC be given 
ongoing funding to allow for the 
creation of permanent external  
review positions. 

Our appropriation for 2017–18 was 
reduced during the financial year  
due to a reprioritisation contribution 
of $48 000. 

Expenses 
Most of our funding appropriation is 
spent on employee-related expenses 
such as salaries, superannuation 
entitlement, long-service leave and 
payroll tax. Our financial statements 
show this year, we spent $5.467 
million or 79.82 percent of our total 
expenses on employee related items.

Our day-to-day running expenses 
cost $1.332 million. Significant 
operating items related to our 
office accommodation ($414k), 
telecommunication ($154k), corporate 
service charges ($339k), and 
contractors and consultants ($89k).

Assets 
At 30 June 2018, assets totalled 
$2.191 million which comprised: 

• cash at bank $2.072 million

•  plant and equipment $0.018 
million; and

•  receivables and other current 
assets $0.101 million.

Liabilities 
As at 30 June 2018, our liabilities 
totalled $0.457 million which included: 

• $0.229 million in payables; and

•  $0.228 million in accrued 
employee benefits.

Accountable and 
transparent
In line with the Queensland 
Government’s commitment to improve 
financial management in the public 
sector, we continued to review our 
internal accounting practices as 
well as the quality of information we 
provided to Queensland Treasury. 

We worked with our corporate  
service provider to streamline our 
reporting processes and continued to 
improve the accuracy of our reporting. 
We continued to provide information 
to the Queensland Audit Office as 
requested and discussed ways to 
improve our financial management 
practices. 

This year, we also commenced a 
review of our Finance Management 
Practice Manual to reflect changes  
in business process due to the  
change in corporate service providers 
and the implementation of a new 
finance system.

Office accommodation
We moved to new premises in October 
2017. This move created changes to 
our supplies and services budget.  
This included savings in our leasing 
costs and outgoings, which we 
were able to invest into portable 
and attractive assets for our staff. 
Following our relocation we have 
also adopted more contemporary ICT 
technologies, such as a ‘Follow You’ 
print and imaging service, to reduce 
our overhead printing costs compared 
to previous years.
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Office of the Information Commissioner
Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2018

2018 2018 2017
Original Budget 

Actual Budget Variance Actual

Notes $000 $000 $000 $000

Income from Continuing Operations

6,429 6,456 (27) 6,372 

Interest 57 12 45 64 

Total Income from Continuing Operations 6,486 6,468 18 6,436 

Employee expenses 3. 5,467 4,951 516 5,215 
Supplies and services 6. 1,431 1,412 19 1,415 
Depreciation 49 90 (41) 109 
Other expenses 7. 23 15 8 21 

6,970 6,468 502 6,760 

Operating Result from Continuing Operations (484) -  (484) (324)

Total Comprehensive Income (484) -  (484) (324)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Expenses from Continuing Operations

Total Expenses from Continuing Operations

Grants from Queensland Government through 
Department of Justice and Attorney General

- 3 -
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Office of the Information Commissioner
Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2018

2018 2018 2017
Original Budget

Actual Budget Variance Actual

Notes $000 $000 $000 $000
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8. 2,072 1,917 155 2,380 
Receivables 9. 100 132 (32) 144 
Prepayments 1 64 (63) -  

Total Current Assets 2,173 2,113 60 2,524 

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 18 -  18 46 

Total Non-Current Assets 18 -  18 46 

Total Assets 2,191 2,113 78 2,570 

Current Liabilities
Payables 10. 229 181 48 245 
Accrued employee benefits 11. 228 -  228 217 

Total Current Liabilities 457 181 276 462 

Non-Current Liabilities
Accrued Rent Payable 15. 109 -  109 -  

Total Non-Current Liabilities 109 -  109 -  

Total Liabilities 566 181 385 462 

Net Assets 1,624 1,932 (308) 2,108 

Equity
Accumulated surplus 1,624 1,932 (308) 2,108 

Total Equity 1,624 1,932 (308) 2,108 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

- 4 -
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Office of the Information Commissioner
Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2018

Accumulated 
Surplus Total

$000 $000

Balance as at 1 July 2016 2,432 2,432 
Operating result from continuing operations (324) (324)

Balance as at 30 June 2017 2,108 2,108 

Operating result from continuing operations (484) (484)

Balance as at 30 June 2018 1,624 1,624 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

- 5 -
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Office of the Information Commissioner
Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2018

2018 2018 2017
Original Budget

Actual Budget Variance Actual

Notes $000 $000 $000 $000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Inflows:

Grants and other contributions 6,429 6,456 (27) 6,372 
GST collected from customers 2 -  2 2 
GST input tax credits from ATO 145 -  145 122 
Interest 57 12 45 64 

Outflows:
Employee expenses (5,423) (4,951) (472) (4,931)
Supplies and services (1,339) (1,412) 73 (1,351)
GST paid to suppliers (135) -  (135) (136)
GST remitted to ATO (2) -  (2) (2)
Other (23) (15) (8) (21)

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities (288) 90 (378) 119 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Outflows:

Payments for property, plant and equipment (21) (15) (6) -  

Net cash used in investing activities (21) (15) (6) -  

(309) 75 (384) 119 

2,380 1,842 538 2,261 

8. 2,072 1,917 155 2,380 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents - opening balance

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents - closing balance

- 6 -
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Office of the Information Commissioner
Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2018

2018 2017
$000 $000

Operating Surplus/(deficit) (484) (324)

Non-cash items:
Depreciation expense 49 109 

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in GST receivable 11 (14)
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables 33 3 
(Increase)decrease in other current assets (1) 64 
Increase/(decrease) in payables (16) 128 
Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 11 153 
Increase/(decrease) in other payables 109 -  

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities (288) 119 

Reconciliation of operating result to net cash provided by operating activities

- 7 -
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Note 1: Basis of Financial Statement Preparation
1.1 General Information
1.2 Compliance with Prescribed Requirements
1.3 Presentation Details
1.4 Authorisation of Financial Statements for Issue
1.5 Basis of Measurement
1.6 The Reporting Entity

Note 2: Office Objectives
Note 3: Employee Expenses
Note 4: Key Management Personnel (KMP)
Note 5: Related Party Transactions
Note 6: Supplies and Services
Note 7: Other Expenses
Note 8.: Cash and Cash Equivalents
Note 9: Receivables
Note 10: Payables
Note 11: Accrued Employee Benefits
Note 12: Commitments
Note 13: Contingencies
Note 14: Financial Risk Disclosures
Note 15: Accrued Rent Payable
Note 16: Future Impact of Accounting Standards Not Yet Effective
Note 17: First Year Application of New Accounting Standards or Change in Accounting Policy
Note 18: Taxation
Note 19: Budgetary Reporting Disclosures

19.1 Explanation of major variances - Statement of Comprehensive Income
19.2 Explanation of major variances - Statement of Financial Position
19.3 Explanation of major variances - Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2018
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1. Basis of Financial Statement Preparation

1.1 General Information

1.2 Compliance with Prescribed Requirements

1.3 Presentation Details

Currency and Rounding

Comparatives

Current/Non-Current Classification

All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current.

1.4 Authorisation of Financial Statements for Issue

1.5 Basis of Measurement

Historical cost is used as the measurement basis in this financial report unless specified otherwise.

Notes to the Financial Statements

The Office of the Information Commissioner (the Office) was established under the repealed Freedom of
Information Act 1992  and continues under the Right to Information Act 2009 .

The head office and principal place of business of the Office is Level 7, 133 Mary Street, BRISBANE QLD 4000.

The Office has prepared these financial statements in compliance with section 43 of the Financial and
Performance Management Standard 2009 . The financial statements comply with Queensland Treasury's
Minimum Reporting Requirements for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2017.

The financial statements are authorised for issue by the Information Commissioner and the Director,
Engagement and Corporate Services at the date of signing the Management Certificate.

The Office is a not-for-profit entity and these general purpose financial statements are prepared on an accrual
basis (except for the Statement of Cash Flow which is prepared on a cash basis) in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards and Interpretations applicable to not-for-profit entities.

Amounts included in the financial statements are in Australian dollars and rounded to the nearest $1,000 or,
where that amount is $500 or less, to zero, unless disclosure of the full amount is specifically required.

Comparative information reflects the audited 2016-17 financial statements.

Assets and liabilities are classified as either 'current' or 'non-current' in the Statement of Financial Position and
associated notes.

Assets are classified as 'current' where their carrying amount is expected to be realised within 12 months after
the reporting date. Liabilities are classified as 'current' when they are due to be settled within 12 months after
the reporting date, or the Office does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement to beyond 12 months
after the reporting date.

The budget for the Office must be approved by the Attorney-General and Minister for Justice, as Minister
responsible for the Right to Information Act 2009 .

For information in relation to the Office's financial statements, please email administration@oic.qld.gov.au or
visit the Office internet site www.oic.qld.gov.au.

for the year ended 30 June 2018
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Office of the Information Commissioner
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2018

1. Basis of Financial Statement Preparation (cont'd)

Historical Cost

1.6 The Reporting Entity

2. Office Objectives

The Office of the Information Commissioner has 5 objectives:

1.

2.
3.
4.
5.

• External review of agency decisions on information access applications;
•

• Mediating privacy complaints and making decisions on applications of waiver of the privacy principles;
•

• Promoting awareness of Right to Information and Privacy issues; and 
• Commenting on legislation and administrative changes to improve practice.

Under historical cost, assets are recorded at the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the
consideration given to acquire assets at the time of their acquisition. Liabilities are recorded at the amount of
proceeds received in exchange for the obligation or at the amounts of cash or cash equivalents expected to be
paid to satisfy the liability in the normal course of business.

Reviewing and reporting on agencies' performance under the RTI Act and IP Act, including personal
information handling practices;

Providing support and assistance to the community and agencies about the operation of the RTI Act
and the IP Act, including an Enquiries Service;

The financial statements include all income, expenses, assets, liabilities and equity of the Office. The Office has
no controlled entities.

The vision of the Office of the Information Commissioner is for an informed Queensland that values and
respects information rights and responsibilities.

An independent, timely and fair review of decisions made under the Right to Information Act 2009 and
Information Privacy Act 2009;

The Office is a statutory body for the Financial Accountability Act 2009 . The role of the Office is to perform the
statutory functions set out in the Right to Information (RTI) Act 2009 and Information Privacy (IP) Act 2009 , 
which include:

An independent and timely privacy complaint mediation service;
Assist agencies to achieve compliance with the privacy principles;
Improve agencies' practices in right to information and information privacy; and
Promote greater awareness of right to information and information privacy in the community and within
government.
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2018 2017
$000 $000

3. Employee Expenses

Employee benefits
Salaries & wages 4,132 3,859 
Annual leave levy 409 463 
Employer superannuation contributions 547 521 
Long service leave levy 81 64 
Other employee benefits 15 13 

Employee related expenses
Payroll tax 237 229 
Workers' compensation premium 18 19 
Other employee related expenses 28 47 

Total 5,467 5,215 

No. No.
Full-Time Equivalent Employees 42.3 37.4

Accounting Policy - Wages and Salaries

Accounting Policy - Sick Leave

Accounting Policy - Annual Leave

Notes to the Financial Statements

Wages and salaries due but unpaid at reporting date are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at
the current salary rates. As the Office expects such liabilities to be wholly settled within 12 months of
reporting date, the liabilities are recognised at undiscounted amounts.

Prior history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement
accrued. This is expected to continue in future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated
entitlements will be used by employees and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. As
sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised for this leave as it is taken.

The Queensland Government’s Annual Leave Central Scheme (ALCS) became operational on 30 June 2008
for departments, commercialised business units and shared service providers. Under this scheme, a levy is
made on the Office to cover the cost of employees' annual leave (including leave loading and on-costs). The
levies are expensed in the period in which they are payable. Amounts paid to employees for annual leave are
claimed from the scheme quarterly in arrears.

for the year ended 30 June 2018

- 11 -

Office of the Information Commissioner 2017–18 Annual Report 60



Office of the Information Commissioner

3.

Accounting Policy - Long Service Leave

Accounting Policy - Superannuation

Accounting Policy - Workers' Compensation Premiums

4. Key Management Personnel (KMP) Disclosures

Notes to the Financial Statements

Employee Expenses (cont'd)

Post-employment benefits for superannuation are provided through defined contribution (accumulation) plans
or the Queensland Government’s QSuper defined benefit plan as determined by the employee’s conditions of
employment. 

Defined Contribution Plans - Contributions are made to eligible complying superannuation funds based on
the rates specified in the relevant EBA or other conditions of employment. Contributions are expensed when
they are paid or become payable following completion of the employee’s service each pay period.

Under the Queensland Government’s Long Service Leave Scheme, a levy is made on the Office to cover the
cost of employees' long service leave. The levies are expensed in the period in which they are payable.
Amounts paid to employees for long service leave are claimed from the scheme quarterly in arrears.

The Information Commissioner role is to deliver an independent, timely and fair review
of decisions made under the Right to Information Act 2009 and Information Privacy
Act 2009 : an independent timely and fair privacy complaint mediation service; improve
agencies' practices to right to information and information privacy; promote greater
awareness of right to information and information privacy in the community and within
Government; and assist agencies to achieve compliance with the privacy principles.

Information Commissioner

Position ResponsibilityPosition

for the year ended 30 June 2018

The Office pays premiums to WorkCover Queensland in respect of its obligations for employee
compensation. Workers' compensation insurance is a consequence of employing employees, but is not
counted in an employee's total remuneration package. It is not employee benefits and is recognised
separately as employee related expenses.

Defined Benefit Plan - The liability for defined benefits is held on a whole-of-government basis and reported
in those financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector
Financial Reporting . The amount of contributions for defined benefit plan obligations is based upon the rates
determined on the advice of the State Actuary. Contributions are paid by the Office at the specified rate
following completion of the employee’s service each pay period. The Office's obligations are limited to those
contributions paid. 

The following details for KMP reflect those positions that had authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Office during 2017-18. Further information about these positions
can be found in the body of the Annual Report under the section relating to Executive Management.

The RTI Commissioner's role is that of a deputy to the Information Commissioner, with
particular responsibility for matters relating to the Information Commissioner's functions
under the Right to Information Act 2009 .

Right to Information 
Commissioner
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2018

4. Key Management Personnel (KMP) Disclosures (cont'd)

Position

KMP Remuneration Policies

Remuneration expenses for KMP comprise the following components:

•

•

Performance Payments

The Privacy Commissioner's role is that of a deputy to the Information Commissioner,
with particular responsibility for matters relating to the Information Commissioner's
functions under the Information Privacy Act 2009 .

Privacy Commissioner

Position Responsibility

The position for Manager, Corporate & Executive Services ceased on 16 May 2017 and was replaced by the
position of Director, Engagement & Corporate Services.  

OIC does not pay any performance payments or bonuses.

To provide expert, strategic advice to the Information Commissioner, specifically in
relation to corporate governance, performance monitoring and reporting; and
management of agreements for corporate services for the Office. Financial and human
resource delegations as determined by the Information Commissioner.

Manager, Corporate and 
Executive Services 

To implement and monitor effective systems and processes to support organisational
objectives and raise awareness of information access and privacy rights, including
design and implementing strategic and governance priorities for the Office. Financial,
Human Resources, Information and Assistance and Training and Stakeholder
Relations delegations as determined by the Information Commissioner.

Director, Engagement and 
Corporate Services 

The remuneration and terms of employment for statutory office holders in key executive management
positions are set by Governor in Council and are equivalent to those set by the Queensland Public Service
Commission.

Remuneration policy for the Office's key management personnel in non-statutory office holder positions is set
by the Queensland Public Service Commission as provided for under the Public Service Act 2008 .

For the 2017-2018 year, remuneration of key executive management personnel increased by 2.5% from 01
September 2017 for SES and SO level staff and from 01 November 2017 for Administrative Officer level staff
in accordance with government policy.

Long-term employee expenses include amounts expensed in respect of long service leave entitlements 
earned.

Termination benefits include payments in lieu of notice on termination and other lump sum separation
entitlements (excluding annual and long service leave entitlements) payable on termination of employment or
acceptance of an offer of termination of employment.

Short-term employee expenses, including:

Post-employment expenses include amounts expensed in respect of employer superannuation obligations.

salaries, allowances and leave entitlements earned and expensed for the entire year, or for that part of
the year during which the employee occupied a KMP position; and

non-monetary benefits - consisting of provision of car parking together with fringe benefits tax applicable
to the benefit.
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4. Key Management Personnel (KMP) Disclosures (cont'd)

Remuneration Expenses

$'000 $'000
233             8 5                26                 -  271           

43               3 19              7                   0 72             

36               2 41              9                   1 90             

Privacy Commissioner 179             8 4                19                 -  210           

783 25 74 88 2 972 

Information Commissioner

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2018

The following disclosures focus on the expenses incurred by the Office attributable to KMP during the respective
reporting periods. The amounts disclosed are determined on the same basis as expenses recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Termination 
Benefits

Total 
Expenses

Monetary 
Expenses

2017-18

Position

Short  Term Employee 
Expenses

Long Term 
Employee 
Expenses

Post-
employment 

Benefits

RTI Commissioner (01/07/2017 
- 02/02/2018)
RTI Commissioner (01/07/2017 
- 31/03/2018)

$'000 $'000

A/RTI Commissioner 
(21/08/2017 - 30/06/2018)              149                4                  3                  11 

$'000

                 -              167 

Non-
Monetary 
Benefits $'000

             64 
Total Remuneration

               56              -                    2                    7 

Director, Engagement & 
Corporate Services (01/07/2017 
- 19/01/2018)                86              -                    2                  10                  -                98 
A/Director, Engagement & 
Corporate Services (12/02/2018 
- 30/06/2018)
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Office of the Information Commissioner
Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2018

$'000 $'000
Information Commissioner 90               -  2                9                   -  101           

122             -  2                11                 -  135           
28               -  1                5                   -  34             

Privacy Commissioner 177                           -   4                18                                  -   199           

711             -  14              71                 -  796           

$'000

2016-17

Position

Short  Term Employee 
Expenses

Long Term 
Employee 
Expenses

Post-
employment 

Benefits
Termination 

Benefits
Total 

Expenses

Monetary 
Expenses

Non-
Monetary 
Benefits $'000 $'000 $'000

Total Remuneration

A/Manager, Corporate & 
Executive Services (MCES)
(1 July 2016 - 16 May 2017)              113              -                    2                  14                  -   

                 -                    -   

A/Director, Engagement 
&Corporate Services
(17 May 2017 - 30 June 2017)                16              -                  -                      2                  -   

               -   
A/RTI Commissioner
(12 June 2017 - 23 June 2017)

           129 

               4 

             18 

RTI Commissioner 
RTI Commissioner 

               6 
A/Information Commissioner
(6 September 2016 - 8 June 
2017)              155              -   3                12                                  -              170 

A/Information Commissioner
(13 June 2017 - 22 June 2017)                  6              -   

                 4              -   

               -                    -                    -   
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5. Related Party Transactions

Transactions with other Queensland Government-controlled entities

The Office received Grant Funding from the Department of Justice and Attorney General ($6,429k).  

All transactions with other Queensland Government-controlled entities were at arms length.

2018 2017
$000 $000

6. Supplies and Services

Contractor and consultants 90 132 
Corporate service charges 339 303 
Operating lease and rental 470 400 
Minor equipment and office maintenance 140 86 
Communications and utilities 70 77 
Computer related charges 102 275 
Other 220 142 

Total 1,431 1,415 

Accounting Policy

Disclosure - Operating Leases

7. Other Expenses

19 15 

Insurance - QGIF 4 4 
Sponsorship -  2 

Total 23 21 

(1)

Notes to the Financial Statements

Total audit fees paid to the Queensland Audit Office relating to the 2017-18 financial statements are
estimated to be  $17,000 (2017: $16,500).

for the year ended 30 June 2018

Queensland Audit Office - external audit fees for the audit of the financial 
statements (1)

Operating leases are entered into as a means of acquiring access to the office accommodation and storage
facilities. Lease terms extend over a period of 5 to 10 years. The Office has no option to purchase leased
item at the conclusion of the lease although the lease provides for a right of renewal at which time the lease
terms are renegotiated.  

Operating lease rental expenses comprises the minimum lease payments payable under operating lease
contracts. Lease payments are generally fixed, but with annual inflation escalation clauses upon which future
year rentals are determined.

Operating leases payments are representative of the pattern of benefits derived from the leased assets and
are expensed in the periods in which they are incurred. Incentives received on entering into operating leases
are recognised as liabilities. Lease payments are allocated between rental expense and reduction of the
liability.

The Office received corporate services from the Corporate Administration Agency and IT support services
from Queensland Parliamentary Services ($339K).  (Refer Note 6).

The Office has an agreement with Department of Housing and Public Works for the provision of office
accommodation ($361k).  (Refer Note 6).

The Office received ICT Project Support from the former Department of Science, Information Technology and
Innovation ($66K).  (Refer Note 6).
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2018 2017
$000 $000

8. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash at bank 2,072 2,380 

2,072 2,380 

Accounting Policy - Cash

9. Receivables

GST receivable 18 29 

18 29 

Long service leave reimbursements 16 31 
Annual leave reimbursements 66 84 

Total 100 144 

10. Payables
Trade creditors 42 148 
Corporate card 14 21 
Payroll tax payable 23 21 
Other 150 55 

Total 229 245 

Accounting Policy - Payables 

Corporate Card Facility

11. Accrued Employee Benefits

Current
Salary and wages outstanding 77 71 
Long service leave levy payable 24 22 
Annual leave levy payable 112 111 
Other 15 13 

Total 228 217 

As at 30 June 2018, OIC has a business card facility with a total limit of $94,000. Cards have been issued to
staff with a total limit of $51,000 and are used for payment of daily operating activities. The balance of
monthly transactions are debited to the OIC bank account on a monthly basis, so no interest is incurred.

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2018

For the purpose of the Statement of Financial Position and the Statement of Cash Flows, cash assets include
all cash and cheques receipted but not banked at 30 June as well as deposits at call with financial institutions.

Trade creditors are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured at the
nominal amount i.e. agreed purchase/contract price, gross of applicable trade and other discounts. Amounts
owing are unsecured.
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11. Accrued Employee Benefits (cont'd)

Accounting Policy - Accrued Employee Benefits

12. Commitments

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

Not later than one year 301 451 
Later than one year and but not later than five years 1,382 1,216 
Later than 5 years 426 -  

Total 2,109 1,667 

13. Contingencies

14. Financial Risk Disclosures

Financial Instrument Categories

2018 2017
$'000 $'000

Category Note

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8. 2,072 2,380 
Receivables 9. 100 144 

Total 2,172 2,524 

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at cost:
Payables 10. 229 245 

Total 229 245 

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2018

No provision for annual leave or long service leave is recognised in the Office's financial statements as the
liability is held on a whole-of-government basis and reported in those financial statements pursuant to AASB
1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting .

Commitments under operating leases at the reporting date (inclusive of non-recoverable GST input tax credits)
are payable:

The Office's activities may expose it to a variety of financial risks. However, any risk is considered to have a
minimal effect on the Office. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the Office
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Office has the following categories of
financial assets and financial liabilities:

No financial assets and financial liabilities have been offset and presented net in the Statement of Financial
Position.

There are no legal or any other contingencies that are known to the agency at 30 June 2018.
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2018 2017
$000 $000

15. Accrued Rent Payable

Accrued Rent Payable 109 -  

109 -  

16. Future Impact of Accounting Standards Not Yet Effective

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities and AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

These standards will first apply to the Office from its financial statements for 2019-20.

•

AASB 16 Leases

Impact for Lessees

Notes to the Financial Statements

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the expected impacts of new or amended Australian
Accounting Standards issued but with future commencement dates are set out below:

The Office has commenced analysing the new revenue recognition requirements under these standards and is
yet to form conclusions about significant impacts. Potential future impacts identifiable at the date of this report
are as follows:

for the year ended 30 June 2018

Grants that are not enforceable and/or not sufficiently specific will not qualify for deferral, and continue to be
recognised as revenue as soon as they are controlled. The Office receives several grants for which there
are no sufficiently specific performance obligations - these grants are expected to continue being
recognised as revenue upfront assuming no change to the current grant arrangements.

At 30 June 2018, OIC has operating lease commitments of $2,109K and annual lease payments of $301K per
year for office accommodation. (Refer Note 12).  

AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)

These standards will first apply to the Office from its financial statements for 2018-19 with a 1 July 2018 date of
transition. The main impacts of these standards on the Office are that they will change the requirements for the
classification, measurement, impairment and disclosures associated with the Office's financial assets. AASB 9
will introduce different criteria for whether financial assets can be measured at amortised cost or fair value.

This standard will first apply to the Office from its financial statements for 2019-20. When applied, the standard
supersedes AASB 117 Leases , AASB Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease , 
AASB Interpretation 115 Operating Leases – Incentives and AASB Interpretation 127 Evaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.

OIC existing operating leases are with internal-to-Government lessors (primarily for office accomodation through 
the Queensland Government Accommodation Office program) and are currently reflected in Note 12 -
Commitments.

The Office has commenced reviewing the measurement of its financial assets against the new AASB 9
classification and measurement requirements. At this stage, and assuming no change in the types of
transactions the Office enters into, all of the Office's financial assets are expected to be required to be
measured at fair value. The Office's financial assets include Receivables and Payables and given that they are
generally short-term in nature, the carrying amount is expected to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.
The Office has no other financial assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2018

16. Future impact of accounting standards not yet effective (cont'd)

AASB 16 Leases (cont'd)

17. First Year Application of New Accounting Standards or Change in Accounting Policy

Changes in Accounting Policy

The Office did not voluntarily change any of its accounting policies during 2017-18.

Accounting Standards Early Adopted

No Australian Accounting Standards have been early adopted for 2017-18.

18. Taxation

The Office is a State body as defined under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 and is exempt from
Commonwealth taxation with the exception of Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) and Goods and Services Tax
(GST). FBT and GST are the only taxes accounted for by the Office. GST credits receivable from, and GST
payable to the Australian Taxation Office (ATO), are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position (refer
to Note 9).  

Considering their operation and impact across the whole-of Government, OIC is currently awaiting formal
guidance from Queensland Treasury as to whether these arrangements should be accounted for on-balance
sheet under AASB 16.

In the event these arrangements are to be accounted for on-balance sheet, the OIC estimates a right-of-use
asset and lease liability on transition of approximately $1,674K for office accomodation leases based on current
operating lease commitments. (Refer Note 12). There will be no material financial statement impact if these
arrangements are not accounted for on-balance sheet. 
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19. Budgetary reporting

19.1 Explanation of major variances - Statement of Comprehensive Income

Interest revenue:

Employee expenses:

19.2 Explanation of major variances - Statement of Financial Position

Receivables:

Payables:

Accrued Rent Payable:

19.3 Explanation of major variances - Statement of Cash Flows

Interest revenue:

Other:

OIC budgets for interest earned against our grant funding received during the year
($12K). Actual interest earned also includes interest earned on retained funding
from previous years ($57K).

Original budget did not include amount for QGIF ($4K). Annual audit fees higher
than budget due to balance of 2016/17 audit fee being higher than 2016/17 audit
fee accrual.

Payment for property, 
plant and equipment:

Original budget included $15K for sundry equipment purchases associated with
the move to new premises. Actual expenditure was on a Surface Hub for the
office ($21K).

Accrued employee 
benefits:

The ALCS and LSL quarterly returns for the June 2018 quarter totalling $136K
were not completed prior to 30 June 2018. No budget was included for accrued
salaries and wages ($77K) due to the pay periods not ending on 30 June.

OIC continued to fund the temporary employment of external review staff from
cash reserves to manage additional ongoing demand pending the review of
legislation. However, due to the temporary nature of the positions offered,
attracting and retaining staff remained a challenge. This has been addressed in
the 2018/19 budget with additional ongoing funding. Actual cost ($5,467K) was
$516K over budget ($4,951K), and was $50K below the $546K overspend amount
approved by the Attorney-General for this purpose.

Employee expenses:

The variance of $109k results from the recognition of lease payments on a
straight line basis, and was not included in the 2017/18 original budget.

Property, plant and 
equipment:

Additional fixed assets were purchased in 2017/18 as part of our new office fitout
that were not included in the original budget.

Payables are $48K above budget. While Trade Creditors were lower than
expected, Sundry Accruals were higher due to the inclusion of $100K for the
replacement of our IT fleet. 

Notes to the Financial Statements

This section contains explanations of major variances between the Office's actual 2017-18 financial results
and the original budget presented to Parliament.

for the year ended 30 June 2018

OIC budgets for interest earned against our grant funding received during the year
($12K). Actual interest earned also includes interest earned on retained funding
from previous years ($57K).

OIC continued to fund the temporary employment of external review staff from
cash reserves to manage additional ongoing demand pending the review of
legislation. However, due to temporary nature of the positions offered, attracting
and retaining staff remained a challenge. Actual cost ($5,467K) was $516K over
budget ($4,951K), and was $50K below the $546K overspend amount approved
by the Attorney-General for this purpose.  

The ALCS and LSL quarterly returns for the June 2018 quarter were not
completed prior to June 2018. The difference of $32K between budget and actual
reflects a difference in the leave patterns to what was originally expected in our
budget.
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for the Office of the Information Commissioner

(a) 

(b)

(c) 

Rachael Rangihaeata Vivienne Van Der Laak
Information Commissioner Director, Engagement and Corporate Services

Date: 22/08/2018 Date: 22/08/2018

these assertions are based on an appropriate system of internal controls and risk management
processes being effective, in all material respects, with respect to financial reporting throughout the
reporting period.

the financial statements have been drawn up to present a true and fair view, in accordance with
prescribed accounting standards, of the transactions of the Office of the Information Commissioner
for the year 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018 and of the financial position of the entity at the end of that
period; and

Management Certificate

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared pursuant to section 62(1) of the
Financial Accountability Act 2009 (the Act), relevant sections of the Financial and Performance
Management Standard 2009 and other prescribed requirements. In accordance with section 62 (1)(b) of
the Act we certify that in our opinion:

the prescribed requirements for establishing and keeping the accounts have been complied with in all
material respects
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Commissioner of the Office of the Information Commissioner 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 

I have audited the accompanying financial report of the Office of the Information Commissioner. 

In my opinion, the financial report: 

a) gives a true and fair view of the entity's financial position as at 30 June 2018, and its 
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended  

b) complies with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial and Performance 
Management Standard 2009 and Australian Accounting Standards. 

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, the 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements including summaries of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the management 
certificate. 

Basis for opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing 
Standards, which incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of my report. 

I am independent of the entity in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. I have 
also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code and the Auditor-
General of Queensland Auditing Standards. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my opinion. 

Responsibilities of the entity for the financial report 

The Information Commissioner is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view in accordance with the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the Financial 
and Performance Management Standard 2009 and Australian Accounting Standards, and for 
such internal control as the Information Commissioner determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error.  

The Information Commissioner is also responsible for assessing the entity's ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless it is intended to abolish the entity or to otherwise 
cease operations.  
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole 
is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the entity. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the entity's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity's ability 
to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am 
required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. I base my conclusions 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

In accordance with s.40 of the Auditor-General Act 2009, for the year ended 30 June 2018: 

a) I received all the information and explanations I required. 

b) In my opinion, the prescribed requirements in relation to the establishment and keeping of 
accounts were complied with in all material respects. 

 

23 August 2018 

 

John Welsh Queensland Audit Office 
as delegate of the Auditor-General Brisbane 
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1. Additional information
Legislative developments/changes 
During 2017–18, two Acts amended the RTI Act.

The Gasfields Commission and Other Legislation Amendment Act 2017 amended the RTI Act to 
exclude certain documents from the operation of the RTI Act.

The Child Protection (Offender Reporting) and Other Legislation Amendment Act 2017 amended 
the RTI Act to exempt information from release if its disclosure is prohibited by section 51C and 
70 of the Child Protection (Offender Reporting and Offender Prohibition Order) Act 2004 (Qld).10 

Machinery-of-government changes
We have not been affected by machinery-of-government changes.

International travel
No international travel was funded in 2017–18.

Open data
We continued to release data sets through the data.qld.gov.au portal, including:

• gifts and benefits register

• consultancies and contractors

• overseas travel

• survey results

• performance dashboard

• audit results; and

• external reviews.

10 This Act was passed and assented to in the 2016–17 financial year and came into effect in the 2017–18 financial year. 
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2. Compliance checklist

Summary of requirement Basis for requirement
Annual report 
reference

Letter of 
compliance

•  A letter of compliance from the accountable officer 
or statutory body to the relevant Minister/s

ARRs – section 7 i

Accessibility •  Table of contents
•  Glossary

ARRs – section 9.1 iii, 88

• Public availability ARRs – section 9.2 Inside front cover
• Interpreter service statement Queensland Government Language Services Policy

ARRs – section 9.3
Inside front cover

• Copyright notice Copyright Act 1968
ARRs – section 9.4

Inside front cover

• Information Licensing QGEA – Information Licensing
ARRs – section 9.5

Inside front cover

General 
information

• Introductory Information ARRs – section 10.1 ii
• Machinery-of-government changes ARRs – section 31 and 32 75
• Agency role and main functions ARRs – section 10.2 6
• Operating environment ARRs – section 10.3 6-10

Non-financial 
performance

•  Government’s objectives for the community ARRs – section 11.1 6-10
•  Other whole-of-government plans/specific initiatives ARRs – section 11.2 Not applicable
•  Agency objectives and performance indicators ARRs – section 11.3 3-4
•  Agency service areas and service standards ARRs – section 11.4 11-38

Financial 
performance

• Summary of financial performance ARRs – section 12.1 48

Governance – 
management  
and structure

• Organisational structure ARRs – section 13.1 40
• Executive management ARRs – section 13.2 43-45
•  Government bodies (statutory bodies and other 

entities)
ARRs – section 13.3 Not applicable

• Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 Public Sector Ethics Act 1994
ARRs – section 13.4

47

• Queensland public service values ARRs – section 13.5 7
Governance – risk 
management and 
accountability

• Risk management ARRs – section 14.1 46-47
• Audit committee ARRs – section 14.2 46-47
• Internal audit ARRs – section 14.3 46-47
• External scrutiny ARRs – section 14.4 46-47
• Information systems and recordkeeping ARRs – section 14.5 46-47

Governance –  
human resources

•  Strategic workforce planning and performance ARRs – section 15.1 41-42
• Early retirement, redundancy and retrenchment Directive No.16/16 Early Retirement, Redundancy 

and Retrenchment 
ARRs – section 15.2

39

Open Data •  Statement advising publication of information ARRs – section 16 75
• Consultancies ARRs – section 33.1 data.qld.gov.au , 42
• Overseas travel ARRs – section 33.2 75
• Queensland Language Services Policy ARRs – section 33.3 Not applicable

Financial 
statements

• Certification of financial statements FAA – section 62
FPMS – sections 42, 43 and 50
ARRs – section 17.1

50-73

• Independent Auditor’s Report FAA – section 62
FPMS – section 50
ARRs – section 17.2

72-73

FAA Financial Accountability Act 2009 
FPMS Financial and Performance Management Standard 2009 
ARRs Annual report requirements for Queensland Government agencies
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3. Category and number of external review applications

2013–14 2014–15 2015–16 2016–17
2017–18

RTI IP Total
Refusal of access 227 229 170 281 144 145 289

Sufficiency of search 115 79 52 69 53 43 96

Third party objection to release 36 28 30^ 19 29 3 32

Agency refusal to deal* 33 55 55 65 51 66 117

Deemed refusal of access 30 29 18 59 19 24 43

Refusal of amendment 6 3 11 11 0 18 18

Deemed refusal of amendment 0 2 29 1 0 3 3

Fees or charges 2 1 1 4 1 0 1

No jurisdiction* – – – 6 0 25 25

Total applications received 451 426 366^ 515 297 327 624

*  For reporting purposes “Agency refusal to deal” category has included not only refusals to deal with an application by an agency under Chapter 
3, Part 4 of the RTI Act and Chapter 3 Part 7 of the IP Act, but also such reasons as: requested information is not a document of an agency; the 
request is not an IP Act application; the application was made out of time; the external review application is considered frivolous or vexatious; 
and the agency agreed to process the application. However, from 2016–17 some of these are now reported within the ‘No jurisdiction’ category 
where appropriate, such as applications about decisions regarding whether a document is a document of an agency for the purposes of the RTI 
or IP Acts, or that are made prematurely where an agency has not yet made a decision (e.g. within the initial processing or consultation period).

^  The third party objection to release and total applications received for 2015–16 were incorrectly reported in part of the 2016–17 OIC Annual 
Report as a result of a typographical error. The 2015–16 figures have been updated in this report to accurately reflect the category and number  
of external review applications received for that financial year.

4. Profile of applicants making external review applications 
2013–14 2014–15 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18

Agencies 4 2 3# 4 9

Individuals 292 278 282# 420 476

Companies 99 75 26 48 62

Journalists 32 50 36 22 44

Lobby and community groups 11 16 12 8 14

Elected representatives 13 5 7 13 19

Total 451 426 366# 515 624

#  The agencies, individuals and total applications received for 2015–16 were incorrectly reported in part of the 2016–17 OIC Annual Report as a 
result of a typographical error. The 2015–16 figures have been updated in this report to accurately reflect the profile of applicants making external 
review applications and the total number of external review applications received for that financial year.
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5. Applications received by agency profile 

2013–14 2014–15 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18

Boards/commissions/GOCs/other bodies 27 46 33 45 31

Departments 267 221 168 287 377

Hospital and Health Services 35 56 85 83 56

Local governments 77 77 60 85 131

Universities 6 10 10 10 20

Ministers 39 16 10 5 9

Total 451 426 366 515 624

6. Outcome of reviews 

Outcome of review 2013–14 2014–15 2015–16 2016–17 2017–18

Affirming agency decision 24 23 15 19 35

Varying agency decision 21 11 23 19 40

Setting aside agency decision 10 3 10 12 3

Decision under section 110 of RTI Act or section 123 
of IP Act

55 37 48 50 78

Review settled informally 409 339 319 314 469

Decision application is out of jurisdiction – section 52, 
section 101 IP Act; section 32, section 88 of the RTI Act

21 29 27 20 11

Decision not to deal with application – section 107 
of IP Act, section 94 of the RTI Act

5 5 4 17 9

Decision to allow agency further time to deal with 
application – section 106 of IP Act, section 93 of RTI Act

10 8 9 12 28

Determination of review not required 36 42 40 49 48

Total 500 418 407 413 595

7.  RTI regulation reporting requirements not captured elsewhere within the  
annual report

RTI requirements Outcome

 Right to Information Regulation Part 4 section 7
(d)  the number of times and the way in which the commissioner has used the entitlement to full and free 

access to documents under section 100 of the Act.*
4

Right to Information Regulation Part 4 section 7
(f )  the number of applications for extension of the 10 year period received by the commissioner under 

schedule 4, part 4, item 1 of the Act and the commissioner’s decision for each application.
0

Right to Information Regulation Part 4 section 7
(a)  the number of applications by non-profit organisations for financial hardship status under section 67 of 

the Act.
8

* From the 2015–16 financial year section 100 is read in conjunction with section 103 RTI Act.
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8.  IP regulation reporting requirements not captured elsewhere within the  
annual report

IP requirements Outcome
Information Privacy Regulation Part 4 section 5(1)

(c)  the number of times and the way in which the 
commissioner has used the entitlement to full and free 
access to documents under section 113 of the Act.* 

2

(d)  the number of applications made under section127 of 
the Act for a declaration that a person is a vexatious 
applicant and the number of declarations under the 
section made by the commissioner.

1

(e)  approval of waivers or modifications of the privacy 
principles under chapter 4, part 5 of the Act.

0

(f)  compliance notices given under chapter 4, part 6  
of the Act.

0

Information Privacy Regulation Part 4 section 5(2)

(a)  the number of complaints the commissioner has 
declined to deal with or has declined to continue 
dealing with

42

(b)  the grounds for declining to deal with the complaints 
under paragraph (a)

No jurisdiction section 164 – 7; Section 168(1)(a) – 1; 
section 168(1)(b) – 9; section 168(1)(c) – 22; section 168(1)
(d) – 1; section 168(1)(f ) – 1

(c)  the categories of relevant entities to which the  
59 finalised complaints relate.

Department –24;  
Local government – 12; Health agency – 8; Public authority 
– 6; Minister – 1; Contracted service provider – 1; Private 
sector – 6; Commonwealth  
agency – 1

(d)  the provisions of the privacy principles to which the 
complaints relate.

Complaints related to Information Privacy Principles 1, 2, 3, 
4, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11; National Privacy Principles 1, 2, 3, 4, 7 
and 9; Section 33 of the IP Act

(e)  the number of complaints referred by the commissioner 
to other entities under section 169 of the Act.

0

(f)  the number and type of complaints resolved by 
agreement after mediation.

Total of 3, Department – 1; Public authority – 1; Contracted 
service provider – 1

* Section 113 is read in conjunction with section 116 of the IP Act.
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9.  2017–18 Applications for external review of decisions by Ministers and agencies 

Ministers

Hon Dr Anthony Lynham MP, Minister for Natural 
Resources, Mines and Energy

1

Hon Grace Grace MP, Minister for Education and 
Minister for Industrial Relations

1

Hon Jacklyn Trad MP, Deputy Premier, Treasurer 
and Minister for Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander Partnerships

2

Hon Leeanne Enoch MP, Minister for Environment 
and the Great Barrier Reef, Minister for Science 
and Minister for the Arts

1

Hon Mark Bailey MP, Minister for Transport and 
Main Roads

2

Hon Michael de Brenni MP, Minister for Housing 
and Public Works; Minister for Digital Technology; 
Minister for Sport

2

Sub-total 9

Boards, Commissions, GOCs and other bodies

Board of Professional Engineers 2

Energy Queensland Limited 3

Electoral Commission Queensland 1

Non-State Schools Accreditation Board 1

Office of the Health Ombudsman 6

Powerlink Queensland 1

QSuper Limited 1

Queensland Building and Construction 
Commission

3

Queensland College of Teachers 1

Queensland Law Society Incorporated 1

Queensland Rail 3

Queensland Urban Utilities 1

Racing Queensland Board T/A Racing Queensland 3

Valuers Registration Board of Queensland 2

Veterinary Surgeons Board of Queensland 1

WorkCover Queensland 1

Sub-total 31

Local governments

Brisbane City Council 19

Bundaberg Regional Council 1

Burdekin Shire Council 1

Cairns Regional Council 1

Carpentaria Shire Council 1

Charters Towers Regional Council 1

Cook Shire Council 6

Council of the City of Gold Coast 18

Diamantina Shire Council 1

Fraser Coast Regional Council 10

Gladstone Regional Council 1

Hinchinbrook Shire Council 1

Ipswich City Council 6

Livingstone Shire Council 2

Logan City Council 14

Mackay Regional Council 1

Maranoa Regional Council 2

Mareeba Shire Council 2

Moreton Bay Regional Council 10

Noosa Shire Council 1

North Burnett Regional Council 1

Redland City Council 6

Rockhampton Regional Council 6

Scenic Rim Regional Council 2

South Burnett Regional Council 1

Sunshine Coast Regional Council 1

Tablelands Regional Council 5

Torres Shire Council 1

Townsville City Council 8

Whitsunday Regional Council 1

Sub-total 131
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Departments

Department of Agriculture and Fisheries 3

Department of Child Safety, Youth and Women 15

Department of Communities, Child Safety and 
Disability Services

6

Department of Communities, Disability Services 
and Seniors

5

Department of Education 24

Department of Education and Training 4

Department of Environment and Heritage 
Protection

2

Department of Environment and Science 13

Department of Housing and Public Works 9

Department of Infrastructure, Local Government 
and Planning

3

Department of Justice and Attorney-General 35

Department of National Parks, Sport and Racing 1

Department of Natural Resources, Mines and 
Energy

16

Department of State Development 2

Department of State Development, 
Manufacturing, Infrastructure and Planning

5

Department of the Premier and Cabinet 1

Department of Transport and Main Roads 11

Queensland Corrective Services 40

Queensland Fire and Emergency Services 9

Queensland Health 5

Queensland Police Service 161

Queensland Treasury 7

Sub-total 377

During 2017–2018 a machinery-of-government (MOG) 
change on 12 December 2017 resulted in a number of 
changes to departments. The name used in this table is the 
name of the entity at the time the review was finalised or for 
open matters, the name as at 30 June 2018. 

Universities

Central Queensland University 3

Griffith University 2

James Cook University 1

Queensland University of Technology 6

The University of Queensland 6

The University of Southern Queensland 2

Sub-total 20

Hospital and Health Service

Cairns and Hinterland Hospital and Health Service 13

Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service 1

Central West Hospital & Health Service 1

Children’s Health Queensland Hospital and 
Health Service

12

Gold Coast Hospital and Health Service 3

Mackay Hospital and Health Services 1

Metro North Hospital and Health Service 10

Metro South Hospital and Health Service 9

South West Hospital and Health Service 1

Sunshine Coast Hospital and Health Service 1

West Moreton Hospital and Health Service 1

Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service 3

Sub-total 56
Total 624
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10. Outcomes of decisions
Review 
Number

Agency
Date of 
Decision

Outcome Outcome Type Section Decision

312937 The Public Trustee of 
Queensland

3/07/2017 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused – 
part

RTI Act – s.47(3)(b), 
RTI Act – s.47(3)(e)

313279 Council of the City of 
Gold Coast

13/07/2017 decision s.123 – varying 
agency response – IPA

access refused IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

313294 Queensland 
Corrective Services

1/08/2017 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

access refused IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(a)

313085 Redland City Council 2/08/2017 decision s.110 – affirming 
agency response – RTI

access refused – 
part

RTI Act – s.47(3)(b), 
RTI Act – s.47(3)(e)

312926 Queensland Police 
Service

4/08/2017 decision s.123 – varying 
agency response – IPA

access refused IP Act – s.67(1), IP 
Act – s.88(2), RTI Act 
– s.47 (3)(a), RTI Act 
– s.47 (3)(b)

313030 Queensland Police 
Service

9/08/2017 decision s.123 – varying 
agency response – IPA

refusal to deal IP Act – s.59(1)

313031 Queensland Police 
Service

9/08/2017 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

refusal to deal RTI Act – s.40

313032 Queensland Police 
Service

9/08/2017 decision s.123 – varying 
agency response – IPA

refusal to deal IP Act – s.59(1)

312924 Queensland Building 
and Construction 
Commission

10/08/2017 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused – 
part

RTI Act – s.47(3)(a), 
RTI Act – s.47(3)(b), 
RTI Act – s.73(2)

312978 Metro South Hospital 
and Health Service

11/08/2017 decision s.123 – varying 
agency response – IPA

access refused – 
part

IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

312979 Metro South Hospital 
and Health Service

11/08/2017 decision s.123 – varying 
agency response – IPA

access refused – 
part

IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(a), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

313107 Metro South Hospital 
and Health Service

11/08/2017 decision s.123 – varying 
agency response – IPA

access refused – 
part

IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

313109 Metro South Hospital 
and Health Service

11/08/2017 decision s.123 – varying 
agency response – IPA

access refused – 
part

IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

313190 Metro South Hospital 
and Health Service

11/08/2017 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

access refused IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

313195 Metro South Hospital 
and Health Service

11/08/2017 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

access refused – 
part

IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

313228 Metro South Hospital 
and Health Service

11/08/2017 decision s.123 – varying 
agency response – IPA

access refused – 
part

IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(a), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

313229 Metro South Hospital 
and Health Service

11/08/2017 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

access refused – 
part

IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

312930 Brisbane City Council 18/08/2017 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(e), 
RTI Act – s.52(1)(a)

312995 Queensland Police 
Service

28/08/2017 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(e), 
RTI Act – s.55(2)(a), 
RTI Act – s.73(2)
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Review 
Number

Agency
Date of 
Decision

Outcome Outcome Type Section Decision

312986 Queensland Police 
Service

31/08/2017 decision s.123 – varying 
agency response – IPA

refusal to deal IP Act – s.59(2), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(a)

312997 Queensland Police 
Service

31/08/2017 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(e)

313014 Queensland Police 
Service

31/08/2017 decision s.123 – varying 
agency response – IPA

refusal to deal IP Act – s.59(2), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(a)

313039 Department of 
Communities, 
Disability Services 
and Seniors

31/08/2017 decision s.123 – varying 
agency response – IPA

access refused – 
part

IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

312998 Redland City Council 1/09/2017 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(b)

313064 Sunshine Coast 
Regional Council

5/09/2017 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused – 
part

RTI Act – s.47(3)(b)

312972 Department of Justice 
and Attorney-General

11/09/2017 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(a), 
RTI Act – s.73(1)

312974 Mackay Hospital and 
Health Services

11/09/2017 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(b)

313012 Darling Downs 
Hospital and Health 
Service

11/09/2017 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(b)

313027 Department of Justice 
and Attorney-General

14/09/2017 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

access refused IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(a), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(e)

313009 Brisbane City Council 15/09/2017 decision s.123 – set aside 
agency response – IPA

access granted 
– full

313034 Department of 
Environment and 
Science

19/09/2017 decision s.110 – affirming 
agency response – RTI

refusal to deal RTI Act – s.47(3)(b), 
RTI Act – s.73(2), RTI 
Act – s.94(1)(a)

312996 Queensland Building 
and Construction 
Commission

6/10/2017 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(e), 
RTI Act – s.52(1)(a)

313079 Rockhampton 
Regional Council

6/10/2017 decision s.110 – affirming 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(a), 
RTI Act – s.47(3)(b), 
RTI Act – s.47(3)(e), RTI 
Act – s.73(2)

313131 Cairns and Hinterland 
Hospital and Health 
Service

26/10/2017 decision s.123 – varying 
agency response – IPA

access refused IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(d)

313113 Department of 
Education

7/11/2017 decision s.110 – affirming 
agency response – RTI

refusal to deal RTI Act – s.41

313161 Logan City Council 7/11/2017 decision s.123 – varying 
agency response – IPA

access refused IP Act – s.67(1), IP 
Act – s.88(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(e), RTI 
Act – s.52(1)(a), RTI 
Act – s.52(1)(b)
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Review 
Number

Agency
Date of 
Decision

Outcome Outcome Type Section Decision

313166 Legal Aid Queensland 9/11/2017 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused – 
part

RTI Act – s.47(3)(a), 
RTI Act – s.47(3)(c), 
RTI Act – s.40, RTI Act 
– s.41

313081 Central Queensland 
University

21/11/2017 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused – 
part

RTI Act – s.47(3)(b), 
RTI Act – s.47(3)(e)

313122 Department of Natural 
Resources, Mines and 
Energy

24/11/2017 decision s.110 – affirming 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(b)

313454 Queensland Police 
Service

4/12/2017 decision s.110 – affirming 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(b)

313127 The University of 
Southern Queensland

8/12/2017 decision s.110 – set aside 
agency response – RTI

access granted 
– full

313208 TAFE Queensland 19/12/2017 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

access refused – 
part

IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

313399 Valuers Registration 
Board of Queensland

19/12/2017 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

access refused IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

313142 Queensland Building 
and Construction 
Commission

20/12/2017 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(a)

313433 Queensland Health 11/01/2018 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

access refused IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

313173 Queensland Building 
and Construction 
Commission

30/01/2018 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(b), 
RTI Act – s.47(3)(e), 
RTI Act – s.43

313467 Central Queensland 
University

1/02/2018 decision s.123 – varying 
agency response – IPA

access refused IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

313468 Central Queensland 
University

1/02/2018 decision s.123 – varying 
agency response – IPA

access refused IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

313474 Central Queensland 
University

1/02/2018 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

access refused IP Act – s.67(1), IP 
Act – s.88(2), RTI Act 
– s.47 (3)(a), RTI Act 
– s.47 (3)(b)

313307 Queensland 
Corrective Services

6/02/2018 decision s.110 – affirming 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(b)

313278 Department of Justice 
and Attorney-General

7/02/2018 decision s.110 – affirming 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(b)

313460 Queensland Police 
Service

22/02/2018 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

access refused IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

313530 Queensland Police 
Service

22/02/2018 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

access refused IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

313258 Queensland Treasury 1/03/2018 decision s.110 – affirming 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(b)

313091 Queensland Building 
and Construction 
Commission

7/03/2018 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(b), 
RTI Act – s.47(3)(e), 
RTI Act – s.73(2), RTI 
Act – s.43
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313583 Tablelands Regional 
Council

15/03/2018 decision s.110 – affirming 
agency response – RTI

refusal to deal RTI Act – s.41(1)

313247 Queensland Police 
Service

20/03/2018 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(a), 
RTI Act – s.47(3)(b), 
RTI Act – s.47(3)(e), 
RTI Act – s.73(2)

313265 Cassowary Coast 
Regional Council

22/03/2018 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(a)

313423 Queensland Police 
Service

26/03/2018 decision s.123 – varying 
agency response – IPA

access refused IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 3(b)

313275 Queensland Police 
Service

29/03/2018 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

refusal to deal RTI Act – s.47(3)(a), 
RTI Act – s.40

313330 Queensland Police 
Service

19/04/2018 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

access refused IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

313389 Queensland Building 
and Construction 
Commission

19/04/2018 decision s.110 – affirming 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(b)

313695 Department of Justice 
and Attorney-General

19/04/2018 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

amendment 
refused

IP Act – s.72(1)(a)(i)

313465 Department of 
Housing and Public 
Works

2/05/2018 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

amendment 
refused

IP Act – s.72(1)(a)(i), 
IP Act – s.72(1)(a)(ii)

313521 Department of 
Housing and Public 
Works

2/05/2018 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

amendment 
refused

IP Act – s.72(1)(a)(i), 
IP Act – s.72(1)(a)(ii)

313605 Department of 
Housing and Public 
Works

2/05/2018 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

amendment 
refused

IP Act – s.72(1)(a)(i), 
IP Act – s.72(1)(a)(ii)

313678 Department of 
Housing and Public 
Works

2/05/2018 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

amendment 
refused

IP Act – s.72(1)(a)(i), 
IP Act – s.72(1)(a)(ii)

313322 Department of Natural 
Resources, Mines and 
Energy

3/05/2018 decision s.110 – affirming 
agency response – RTI

access granted 
– full

313404 Logan City Council 11/05/2018 decision s.110 – set aside 
agency response – RTI

access granted 
– full

313174 Queensland Building 
and Construction 
Commission

18/05/2018 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(b), 
RTI Act – s.47(3)(e)

313524 Department of Child 
Safety, Youth and 
Women

18/05/2018 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

amendment 
refused

IP Act – s.72(1)(a)(i)

313410 Department of 
Education

22/05/2018 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

access refused – 
part

IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(b)

313442 Mareeba Shire 
Council

22/05/2018 decision s.110 – affirming 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(b)
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313516 Department of 
Environment and 
Science

24/05/2018 decision s.110 – affirming 
agency response – RTI

access granted 
– full

RTI Act – s.47(3)(a), 
RTI Act – s.47(3)(b)

313449 Queensland Police 
Service

7/06/2018 decision s.123 – affirming 
agency response – IPA

access refused IP Act – s.67(1), RTI 
Act – s.47 (3)(e)

313429 Queensland Police 
Service

12/06/2018 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused RTI Act – s.47(3)(a), 
RTI Act – s.47(3)(b), 
RTI Act – s.47(3)(e), 
RTI Act – s.55(1), RTI 
Act – s.73(1)

313471 Queensland Police 
Service

15/06/2018 decision s.110 – affirming 
agency response – RTI

access granted 
– full

312955 Queensland Police 
Service

29/06/2018 decision s.110 – varying 
agency response – RTI

access refused – 
part

RTI Act – s.47(3)(b), 
RTI Act – s.47(3)(e), 
RTI Act – s.52(1)(a), RTI 
Act – s.73(2)
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Application
The process whereby a person requests access to government 
information by completing a copy of the approved form.

Awareness activity
An activity undertaken to increase the level of knowledge in 
both the public sector, and the broader community, about 
information rights and responsibilities.

Best practice
A method or technique for accomplishing a business 
outcome, that has consistently shown results superior to 
those achieved by other means, and which is used as an 
industry benchmark.

Decision
A formal, written decision issued by the Information 
Commissioner, on an external review application to affirm, 
vary, or set aside a decision made by an agency or Minister.

Deemed decision
A decision that is taken to be made to refuse access to 
information because the time frame has expired.

Disclosure log
A list or copies of documents released following a decision 
about an application for access under the RTI Act, which is 
published on an agency’s website.

Early resolution
A flexible conciliation based process in which OIC seeks 
to resolve an external review application by negotiating a 
mutually acceptable outcome with the parties, without the 
need for a formal written decision.

External Review
The External Review function of OIC is responsible for the 
independent merits review of Queensland government 
agency and Ministers’ decisions about access to 
information under the right to information legislation 
and access to, or amendment of, documents under the 
information privacy legislation.

Glossary

Governance
The process by which decisions are controlled and 
managed to achieve their objectives, and by which 
organisations are directed, reviewed, and held to account.

Independent Auditor’s Report
As OIC does not have an internal financial audit function, 
all audits, are conducted by the Queensland Audit Office, 
providing OIC an Independent Auditor’s Report.

Information and Assistance
The Information and Assistance function of OIC has 
responsibility for providing an enquiry service, which 
responds to approximately 4 500 enquiries annually,  
and produces extensive guidance for agencies and  
the community.

Open Data
Open data is data that is made available by organisations, 
businesses and individuals for anyone to access, use  
and share.

Audit and Evaluation
The Audit and Evaluation function of OIC monitors and 
reports on Queensland government agencies’ practices and 
compliance with the right to information and information 
privacy legislation.

Performance report card
In the context of this report, a visual display of the most 
significant performance information consolidated so that 
an overall understanding can be gained at a glance.

Privacy
The OIC Privacy function is designed to help protect personal 
information held by Queensland government agencies.

Privacy complaint
A complaint alleging that an agency has failed to comply 
with the privacy principles or a waiver or modification 
approval under the Information Privacy Act 2009 (Qld).
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Privacy principles
A set of rules that prescribe how Queensland government 
agencies manage the personal information they hold.

Publication scheme
A publication scheme is a structured list of an agency’s 
information which is readily available to the public.

QCAT
Queensland Civil and Administrative Tribunal is an 
independent tribunal which actively resolves disputes.

Right to information
The legislative and administrative framework that allows 
individuals to access information held by Queensland 
government agencies.

Service
A group of related activities contributing to a common 
organisational objective.

Service standard
A goal or target to be reached. Its general aim is to improve 
performance continuously.

Strategic plan
A critical document, with a minimum five year outlook, 
which outlines the key strategies to be undertaken to 
achieve the organisation’s desired outcomes.

Training and Stakeholder Relations
The Training and Stakeholder Relations function of 
OIC promotes the principles and practices of right to 
information and information privacy.
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